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Friday, May 11, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:32 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning.  We are reconvening in the matter of application EB‑2006‑0501.  This is day 7 of the evidentiary portion of the hearing.  Today we will continue the cross‑examination of panel 4.  The issue we are dealing with this morning is the revenue requirement adjustment proposed by Hydro One.


This afternoon, we hope to move on to issue 3.4, the proposal regarding the treatment of supply mix projects and rate base.


Before we begin, I would like to get confirmation of those who are going to cross‑examine this panel on this issue and an estimate of your time.  I know we did that the last day that we were together, but I would like to confirm where we are.  I think Mr. DeVellis, we didn't get an estimate from you on Tuesday.  Mr. Rogers.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am going to start this morning and I will be approximately 40 minutes.


MR. WARREN:  I think I am going to follow, Madam Chair, and I expect Mr. Rodger will cover most of the ground, so I am estimating 20 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:   My original estimate stands, at about two hours, but hopefully some of it will be cut from Mr. Rodger's and Mr. Warren's cross.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. DeVellis.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  I had originally scheduled half an hour, but I expect it will be quite a bit less after Mr. Buonaguro is done.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. MACINTOSH:  I will be only about ten minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you.  There are a few, and once again I am placing before the Panel some undertaking answers which I will go through in a moment and, as well, some transcript corrections which have been brought to my attention.  


I have asked the reporter to insert these in the front of the transcript for today's proceedings.  I don't believe there is anything here that changes anything very significantly.  It is just that there are some changes that the witnesses thought should be made so the people aren't confused if they're reading the transcript.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, I do have some undertaking answers to file, as well, and I have given you a list ‑‑ a set of these.  They are Exhibit K, tab 4, schedule 3; Exhibit K, tab 4, schedule 5; Exhibit K, tab 5, schedule 1; Exhibit K, tab 5, schedule 2; Exhibit K, tab 5, schedule 3, consisting of three pages; Exhibit K, tab 5, schedule 4, and that deals with the Cornerstone project, as you will see; Exhibit K, tab 5, schedule 6; Exhibit K, tab 5, schedule 7, consisting of four pages; and, finally, Exhibit K, tab 5, schedule...[inaudible]


Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Are there any other preliminary matters?  Then, Mr. Rodger, you can begin.


HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 4, Resumed


Ian Innis, Previously Sworn


William Paolucci, Previously Sworn

Andy Poray, Previously Sworn

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Panel, how I would like to start, having reviewed the transcript of the last day, is to talk about the context within which you are presenting the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism - and I will just refer to that over the course of the morning as RRAM for simplicity - that you are putting this concept before the Board for approval in this proceeding.  


And when I reviewed the transcript, the two big context themes that come out, you want to streamline the regulatory process and you want to avoid a cost of service proceeding that would divert management's attention from its heavy work load expected over the next couple of years.  Is that a fair summary?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And I would like to put a proposition to you, that if you distill those goals down to kind of a key driver, would you agree with the proposition that what really is in play here is that Ontario finds itself at a bit of a crossroads in terms of infrastructural renewal?  And by that, I mean - you talked about it in your evidence - that what we're talking about here is work that has to be done in order to maintain the reliability, in order to maintain the type of service you want to give to your customers.  Is that accurate?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And the asset aging factor and that criteria which we have heard so much about, this really points to the work that has to be done - and I think it was your words, Dr. Poray - in order to mitigate the deterioration of the performance of the assets as a result of the assets getting older.  Is that fair?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  So could we conclude, then, really the time has come, in your view, for the province and for the utility to make some hard decisions about a major revamping of the transmission infrastructure if customers like AMPCO members want to be able to continue be assured that they're going to have a quality reliable system; is that fair?


DR. PORAY:  I think, in terms of the word you used, revamping, it is not so much the revamping as ensuring that we maintain the performance of the transmission system as it was originally intended, and that speaks to the maintenance and capital that is required in that respect, as well as ensuring that we can meet the requirements which the provincial government has set in terms of supply mix and the various other projects that are underway.


MR. RODGER:  It's kind of, as I understand it, a dual situation.  You have asset aging, which we have talked about, but we have this other component that is kind of completely beyond your control, the IPSP, and what's going to come of that and the impact for you; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And would you also agree that timing is of the essence, that if we delay the decisions and the approvals that you're asking today, then this is all at our collective peril in terms of those reliabilities and sustainable system that you want to achieve?


DR. PORAY:  We feel that timing is important, yes.


MR. RODGER:  Would you go as far as to say that, in terms of systematic -- system reliability, that we're going to be headed for a bit of an eventual crisis in the transmission system if the approvals you are asking for are not granted by this Board?  Would you go that far?


DR. PORAY:  I think in terms of work that has to be done to maintain the reliability of the transmission system, that work has to continue.


MR. RODGER:  If -- for example, if the RRAM concept was not approved by this Board, would we conclude that you would be unlikely to make the kind of investments over the 2009 and 2010 period that you contemplate?


DR. PORAY:  I think, given the requirements in terms of the sustainment of the system and the expansion of the system, that work would have to continue and it would have to, then, be covered by a submission, perhaps like a cost of service.


MR. RODGER:  I wanted to set out this context at the start, Dr. Poray, because it seems to AMPCO, at least, that the facts of this hearing and the context of this hearing are going to put us all in a very challenging position.  


On the one hand, intervenors like AMPCO have absolutely no interest in seeing the integrity of the system being deteriorated.  However, when industrial members look out on the horizon in this province, there is a real risk that there is going to be cost increases across the Board, from everything from new generation builds, to reduction in coal, new natural gas, conservation and CDM, wind power.  It's all cost increases.


So we've got the job of the OEB to balance the interests between the utility and the interests of customers, and I wanted to get your response as to how Hydro One sees the RRAM concept as a legitimate vehicle for this Board to balance those interests.


DR. PORAY:  The focus behind the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism is to move forward with the work that has to be done, in terms of the maintenance of the transmission system and the expansion of the transmission system in a regulatory environment which perhaps could be streamlined to ensure that the company's focus can be maintained on the work that has to be done.  As opposed to having to submit a cost of service which is very time consuming and tends to divert management's attention.  


So what we see in the provision that the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism gives is a streamlined process for moving ahead, with all of the work that awaits.  


MR. RODGER:  I can appreciate that as being something that the utility would want to seek.  I guess I'm looking at the other side of the coin:  How specifically do you see the RRAM mechanism protecting consumers' interests?  What is the check and balance that is embodied within the RRAM concept to give groups like AMPCO comfort, in your view?  


DR. PORAY:  The revenue requirement adjustment mechanism will be subject to a due process where the intervenors and the Board will have an opportunity to examine the information that is being provided for the revenue adjustments.  And so there is a due process associated with that.  


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  So let me just leave the process to now, I want to come back to that.  


But I want to touch on some of the discussion you had last day about the rate of aging of assets and, as we have all discussed, this has been a major theme in this case.  You had a discussion with Ms. Campbell and with the Board about interrogatory J1.14.  I don't think you need to turn it up at this point, but that was a feature of this.  


I took your evidence to be that that interrogatory, J1.14, that was presented to show the rate of aging of assets, is that correct, that was the purpose of that response?  


DR. PORAY:  I think the interrogatory that you are referring to is J5.14. 


MR. RODGER:  Yes, I'm sorry.  J5.14.  


DR. PORAY:  And that interrogatory included a table which showed a snapshot of two periods, 2001 and 2005, and by comparing the data in those two snapshots we demonstrated that on average the age of the assets is increasing.  


MR. RODGER:  I am glad you used that word "snapshot" because we have heard that before in earlier panels.  That's what we've seen, if you look at the other information presented by you, by the utility on asset aging, a series of snapshots in different contexts.  


What AMPCO's concern is, is that at least to date, we're not persuaded by the evidence that you have produced on asset aging that there is a clear and present danger; that if you don't make the investments that you talk about, the system is in jeopardy.  


Interrogatory responses like J5.14, again, don't give us that connection that, when you look at all of these snapshots, the conclusion is the money has to be spent now on the issues that you're talking about.  


I want to give you an analogy to respond to that I think has put J5.14, and perhaps some of the other evidence that you have submitted, into context to show us the concern we're trying to illustrate.  


I want to give you a simple analogy.  If you have a homeowner that has 25-year shingles on his house and let's assume that the life really is 25 years.  If we're in year 23, then we know that in two years we're going to have to replace that roof, and we know the money is going to have to be spent and we're going to have to start to put money aside to take care of that.  


But if we're only in year 15 now, well, we know for five years from now, when we're in year 20, the assets will be five years older; but that doesn't mean even if they are five years older, that there is this clear and present danger about the integrity of the system.  


I suggest to you, Dr. Poray, that interrogatory responses such as J5.14, they also don't show us -- they don't lead that to that conclusion.  


So I'm wondering if you could explain to me:  Is AMPCO missing something here when it looks at interrogatory responses like J5.14, to show this connection between aging assets and kind of real, immediate issues for the system?  


DR. PORAY:  First of all, I'm not an expert in asset aging, and I think this whole concept, in terms of the costs associated with asset aging and the programs that need to be put in place to address that issue was in fact covered off in panels 1 and 2, which dealt with sustainment OM&A and sustainment capital.  


But if I take it from a higher perspective, if we look at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2 and it's page 1 of that exhibit.  This is an exhibit which introduces the discussion on the sustaining capital.  


MR. RODGER:  D1, tab 3. 


DR. PORAY:  It's D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 1.  


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  


DR. PORAY:  If we go down to the bottom of the page under section 2.0, discussion, if we look at that sentence that starts on page 25 and goes on to 27, it says: 

"Asset deterioration depends on a combination of factors such as location, utilization, weather, loading patterns, maintenance practices and age." 


So age is one of the components which factors into the decisions that are made to spend or to develop programs in terms of the sustaining capital.  Also there is a similar statement in the part of the evidence that deals with the sustainment OM&A.  


So all of those things are taken into account in determining the programs that are put in place to determine what work has to be done.  So we look at the condition in which the assets are to determine what work programs are in place.  


So if we look to your analogy of the shingles that need to be replaced, if we're in the latter years of the age of the shingles, or if we are only halfway through the age of the shingles, a similar sort of exercise goes on at Hydro One where we look at the condition that the assets are in at the time that we are formulating our capital plans and our OM&A plans, to determine what work has to be done.  


Now it could be that sometimes the younger equipment has to have some additional money spent on it because it is deteriorating for some reason, whereas older equipment, in fact, is performing very well and needs relatively less investment.  


MR. RODGER:  So just to perhaps bring this to a head.  Is it the evidence of Hydro One - again using my analogy of the 25-year shingle - that really Hydro One is in year 23 or year 24?  


DR. PORAY:  Well, Hydro One reviews the performance of its assets on an ongoing basis, from year to year when it formulates its business plan and its expenditures.  So it look at what needs to be done on an annual basis.  So it doesn't wait until the end of the asset before addressing the issue.  


MR. RODGER:  But looking at the time horizons in this case and then for RRAM, are you saying that it's critical that the investments be made over this period; in other words, that there is just simply no time to postpone these decisions to post-2010?  


DR. PORAY:  What I think we have submitted as part of this evidence is a requirement for capital investment and OM&A, in terms of the work that needs to be done for maintaining the performance of the existing infrastructure, as indicated by the condition of the assets at this point in time.  


MR. RODGER:  And this has to be done within the timelines that you put before this Board? 


DR. PORAY:  Certainly the programs that are submitted in this evidence and what we feel is likely to be happening over the next two or three years, yes. 


MR. RODGER:  If not, the conclusion is then that there will be a serious deterioration of the transmission system in this province, that's the implication. 


DR. PORAY:  Well, I think the work will have to continue.  It has to be done to maintain the performance.  


MR. ROGERS:  Can I just interject?  Dr. Poray is trying to be helpful and I don't want to interfere with my friend's questioning, but Dr. Poray is not the expert on asset aging.  Those people were here.  He's here on RRAM, and this line of questioning I don't think really is dealing with the adjustment mechanism.  


So I just point that out.  If my friend could stick to the topic at hand. 


MR. RODGER:  Let's now turn to something you did discuss with Mr. Rupert last day.  If you could turn up, please -- this is the OM&A asset aging adjustment factor and an understanding of how it works.  This is Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2, page 4, table 2.  


This table 2 is entitled "Transmission SDO OM&A Adjustment Factor".  You will recall, Dr. Poray, that you had a discussion with Mr. Rupert about this table last day?


DR. PORAY:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And if you look at the lower right-hand corner of table 2 under item 7, "Compound annual average percentage change," for the test year 2008 we see that number is 5.19 percent; correct?


DR. PORAY:  That number is the compound average rate for that period.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  So its program expenditures are increasing annually since 2003 by 5.19 percent; is that accurate?


DR. PORAY:  What we are saying is that the factor of 5.19 percent is an indication of the -- what we termed the residual sustainment and development operations OM&A.  That is growing at that rate.


MR. RODGER:  And if I understand your testimony from the last day, that 5.19 percent was calculated from the underlying increase in actual and proposed program expenditures from 2003 onward, after productivity and inflation effects were removed; is that right?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Now, when I go back to interrogatory response J-5-14, and it's at the bottom right-hand corner of that particular page - that's the page that had the 2003, 2005 comparison, and you talked about this last day - there is an annual average of asset aging of 3.2 percent.  Do you recall that?


DR. PORAY:  Can you just let me...


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  I believe your evidence was that the 3.2 percent on this interrogatory response is the annual average aging of the system.


DR. PORAY:  That's what we've indicated in that table, yes.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  And would you agree with me, Dr. Poray, that this 3.2 percent asset aging factor, it is not itself actually part of the OM&A asset aging adjustment factor that we've just been referring to on table 2?  There is no connection between the two numbers, in other words, between that 5.19 percent and the 3.2 percent; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  The 3.2 percent is an indication of the age of the assets, based on the information that's in the asset base.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


DR. PORAY:  And based on the snapshot comparison.  The figure of 5.19 percent is a derivation based on the OM&A expenditures, looking back and also on a projected basis.


MR. RODGER:  The two numbers are not connected in any way?  I guess that's my point.  You don't look at that 3.2 percent -- it doesn't come into this table 2 to derive the 5.19 percent.  I guess that is my point.


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  So if your actual rate of aging was 1 percent or 10 percent, it wouldn't change this 5.19 percent figure, would it?


DR. PORAY:  It might, if the expenditures in the previous years were different.


MR. RODGER:  If they were different.


And I think it has been -- certainly I think part of the difficulty that AMPCO has had with this exhibit, aging asset adjustment factor at Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2, is that the 5.19 percent, it seems to us that that doesn't really constitute an asset aging factor.  Isn't it simply an escalation factor that is based on a number of factors, number of influences?


DR. PORAY:  As I pointed out when I referred to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2, and I don't think you have to turn to it, but I made a point there that asset deterioration depends on a combination of factors.  Age is one of them.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


DR. PORAY:  In the interrogatory response J-5-14, that table just shows the impact of age...


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


DR. PORAY:  ...whereas what we have shown in table 2 of Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2 is really the OM&A, which would include the impact of all of those other factors.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


DR. PORAY:  Age is just one component of that.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.


DR. PORAY:  However, I would just like to add that directionally what this shows to us is that both of them are increasing.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you could just stay with Exhibit A, tab 13.  Just flip over a few pages to schedule 3.  This is part of the evidence entitled "Development of the Capital Asset Aging Adjustment Factor".


And, again, if you go to page 4, there is another table 2, "Transmission SO Capital Adjustment Factor."  Do you have that, Dr. Poray?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I do.


MR. RODGER:  If I understand this table correctly, both it and the accompanying description outline the method of calculating a program escalation factor similar to what you walked us through on the OM&A on Tuesday; is that fair?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  I want to take you to line 6 of table 2, "Residual SO Capital (Row 1 - Row 5)", in millions.  You will see that for years 2004, 2005, and 2006 the residual SO capital was negative; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's what is shown here, yes.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  And if I understand your methodology correctly, if we calculated an SO adjustment factor at the end of 2006 as the test year instead of 2007 or 2008, to use 2006 with the negative number, we would end up with a negative result, wouldn't we?


DR. PORAY:  That's possible.


MR. RODGER:  In other words, we would get a result that program spending should decrease in 2007; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  Based on the information that is available in that table.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  So would you agree with me, then, Dr. Poray, that this adjustment factor calculation, it's highly dependent on the years that you choose and the actual or proposed costs for those years, and not directly on the underlying asset cost drivers?


DR. PORAY:  The derivation methodology that we used here was based on the best available information that we have, and in this particular case there was a reason why the numbers were negative, and I believe that that was explained in an interrogatory response, J-7-1.


MR. RODGER:  But perhaps ‑‑ I think the point is a clear one.  Isn't the conclusion that the SO capital adjustment factor is dependent on the level of actual expenditures in 2007 and in 2008?


DR. PORAY:  It's dependent on the ‑‑ the actual derivation of the factor itself is dependent on all of the years, because, in essence, the methodology says that I'm going to start in 2003 with the sustainment and operations capital, which is shown to be 199.2 million in table 2 in both lines 1 and line 5.

Then what you do is, for each year, you strip out the percentage savings or productivity improvements and you escalate by the composite escalation factor.


So all of those years factor into determining what the test year value should be.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


DR. PORAY:  Then, yes, the difference between the test year forecast, which was 316, and the test year SO adjustment gives you the number 97.2, which then you calculate to be the ‑‑ from that the compound average.


MR. RODGER:  So let me propose it to you this way, Dr. Poray.  Let's go to 2008, and let's say that in that year your sustaining OM&A or capital programs come out higher than you propose, for whatever reason.  Won't this, in turn, then, change the escalation factors for calculating the 2009, 2010 requirements?


DR. PORAY:  If the test year 2008 value was higher than what's shown here, then the compound annual average percentage change would be higher.


MR. RODGER:  Yes, thank you.  Now, you've acknowledged that this RRAM approach is not a PBR mechanism.  I would like to put a proposition to you, again in this context of the Board's job of balancing the interests between the utility and the ratepayers, because it seems to us as this RRAM is really a form of anti‑PBR, because aren't all of your incentives to spend money under this approach?


DR. PORAY:  Not at all.  The revenue requirement adjustment mechanism is very similar to the adjustment mechanism which is in place now for the electricity distribution sector, which includes an inflation term, a productivity term, but in our case we also include an asset aging factor term.


MR. RODGER:  But isn't the big difference that the distributors can't include significant new capital spending in their price adjustment mechanism?  If they do that, they have to come back for a full cost of service proceeding.


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  That's a major difference between what you're proposing and what the distributors are facing.


DR. PORAY:  And what we are proposing here is, because we are here today before the Board for a cost of service proceeding, we feel that to return again in 2009 and 2010 would be detrimental.


MR. RODGER:  So would you agree with the proposition, Dr. Poray, that the RRAM mechanism you propose creates a strong incentive for Hydro One to spend to the limit of your budgets?


DR. PORAY:  It would be no different than if you filed a cost of service application, in terms of the capital expenditures.


MR. RODGER:  It would be no different?  Sorry, did you say it would be no different than under a cost ‑‑


DR. PORAY:  It would be no different.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.


Now, on Wednesday evening I sent out an exhibit that I had created, a two‑page exhibit.  I have copies that I have given to Ms. Campbell, and hopefully all of my friends have got it.  It's simply entitled "Panel 4, Revenue Requirement Adjustment Mechanism".  


And also I have had a load of feedback from Hydro One on some changes that should be made, which I will take you through, Dr. Poray, shortly.  I will wait until everybody gets a copy of that.  This information was taken from Hydro One's Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1 or from the May 8th transcript.


The purpose of this exhibit was trying to put in one place, simply, with respect to the RRAM, the approvals that the utility is seeking in this proceeding; the evidence that will have to be filed in 2008 and 2009 for implementation in 2009, 2010; and what evidence other entities, particularly the IESO, and other transmitters will have to file under this concept.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's mark it as an exhibit, Mr. Rodger.


MS. CAMPBELL:  L6.1.


MR. RODGER:  Sorry, that was Exhibit L6.1?


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's right.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.


EXHIBIT NO. L6.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "PANEL 4, 


REVENUE REQUIREMENT ADJUSTMENT MECHANISM".

MR. RODGER:  And as I said, I have had some feedback from Hydro One about some changes.  Perhaps we could just start with category A, the "OEB approvals sought by Hydro One in the 2007‑2008 revenue requirement proceeding," that's this proceeding, "with respect to RRAM."


I have listed the first two items as the documents I have just taken you through, the OM&A asset aging adjustment factor and the capital asset aging adjustment factor.


Now, do you describe these two things in your evidence, Dr. Poray, as the overall RRAM concept that you are seeking approval for; is that fair?


DR. PORAY:  The overall revenue requirement adjustment concept would be the idea of the formula of using the adjustment factors, inflation, productivity and the asset aging factor.  So that is the overall concept.  And then specifically, we are also asking for approval of how we derive the factors, which we've just spoken about.


The third item would be the productivity adjustment factor that -- we would leave that at 1 percent throughout the period.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


DR. PORAY:  Then the final item was the way that we would ‑‑ we were seeking approval for the treatment of development capital as we present it in this proceeding.


MR. RODGER:  So that maybe should be a new item that we should add to my list, then?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct, yes.


MR. RODGER:  Perhaps a new item for the treatment of development capital costs as presented in this proceeding.


DR. PORAY:  And also the overall concept of using the RRAM.  So those were the two items that we felt should be added to that list for approval in this proceeding.


MR. RODGER:  Now, I've also got listed here:  Cost of debt, capital tax rate, income tax rate and working capital.  And I gather that these items should really be placed in category B, not in A; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Perhaps I could just take you ‑- I will explain to you why I put these items in category A.


Again, staying with Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, if you could turn to page 26.  Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, page 26.


You will see at the bottom, starting at line 25, you have "Implementation steps".  It was just that first bullet that perhaps threw me off when I included those things in my approvals to be included at this hearing, because it reads:

"Implementation of the adjustment model would entail the following steps:  

The following items are assumed to be pre-approved by the OEB as part of its decision on the Hydro One submission for 2007 and 2008 revenue requirement."


And you list the various features that I have also included in my category A.


So maybe you could just clarify that.  How does this pre-approval come about for things like cost of debt, capital tax rate, income tax rate, working capital?


DR. PORAY:  As part of this cost of service review for 2007 and 2008, the Board will examine and approve the cost of debt, the capital tax rate, the income tax rate and the working capital specific to the 2007 and 2008 evidence that was filed here.


We are not seeking approval of those four items with respect to RRAM, which kicks in in 2009 and 2010, and therefore, that was the reason why we felt those four items should really be part of category B, because when we come forward and file evidence in 2008 and 2009 for the approval of the adjustment ‑‑ for the approval of the revenue requirement for 2009, then we would also include information on those items for approval at that time.


MR. RODGER:  I see.  So is the way to perhaps think about this, then, is that if you get the approvals that you're seeking in this hearing, when we get to whatever process will happen in 2008 and 2009 ‑ we'll talk about that later ‑ it's not to talk about the merits of the inflation factor or productivity or asset aging.  It is really about just the numbers at that point.  Is that perhaps a way to describe it?  That's what the subsequent proceedings will be about?


DR. PORAY:  Should the Board approve the concept of the adjustment mechanism, then what we will be filing in the year of adjustment would be the numbers.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now, last day you talked about that because of the workload, the number of projects and so on, that you really couldn't go through a cost of service proceeding next time.  That would divert too much management time.  We understand that.  


We also heard evidence that you don't have enough data to do what other jurisdictions have done in terms of PBR.  I'm just wondering, did the utility consider any other mechanism, besides this RRAM, as a way to kind of deal with this unique situation?


DR. PORAY:  There are really two options.  One is you submit a cost of service review, or, alternatively, you look for a simpler or more a streamlined process by which to achieve the same end.


MR. RODGER:  Now, if we move to my category B, and this is the Hydro One evidence to be filed in 2008 and 2009 with respect to RRAM implementation for 2009 and 2010, respectively, the first thing I have on my list is:  "Prudence and appropriate level of expenditure review."


What I had in mind when I put that there was the discussion you had with the Panel last day, Dr. Poray, that this pertained to capital projects in service for 2009, but not subject to section 92 review; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Is there any other category or project or costs that would be included within this first theme, in terms of the prudence review, that would take place in the subsequent proceedings after this proceeding, or is kind of the prudence level of expenditure restricted to that category I have just identified?


DR. PORAY:  That was the one category of development capital expenditures that are not covered by other proceedings, and therefore we felt that it should be included for a review; whereas the other development capital expenditures would be covered under, say, the IPSP or section 92 approvals.


MR. RODGER:  So this idea that the prudence review, with this one exception of these non‑section 92 capital projects in service in 2009, there wouldn't be any other kind of prudence review as part of this subsequent process in 2008 or 2009?  That's not the nature of those future proceedings?  It's not going to be a prudence review per se, in your mind?


DR. PORAY:  Well, the ‑‑ what we intended was that there will be a due process and, as part of that due process, the Board will examine the development capital that is submitted by Hydro One for the purpose of including in the revenue requirement for the test year -- let's say the test year is 2009.


Then as part of that plan, there will be these various components of development capital.  Some of them would have already been examined in other proceedings, but those that haven't been examined in other proceedings would be examined in that particular proceeding.


MR. RODGER:  Then perhaps I could just give you an example, under the IPSP related in‑service additions, just to see if I can understand this.


Let's assume that you have a $100 million IPSP project, capital project, where you spent the money in 2008.  It was going to come into service in 2009.  Is there an OEB prudence review for that expenditure as part of your subsequent 2008, 2009 processes that we have described in your evidence?  Or does the ‑‑ in your view, does the IPSP hearing itself, that deals with the prudence, and then thereafter it is just a matter of kind of a mathematical review by this Board?  


That's what we're struggling with, to see how this all fits together as we move forward for 2008, 2009.


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a minute.


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  Okay.  Our understanding is that the IPSP itself would form the basis under which the economic justification for the project would be reviewed and approved, and then whatever projects came into service in 2009, that's what we would include in the rate base.


Now, one of the other things I would like to mention is that what we envisage with this revenue requirement adjustment mechanism is that it would apply for two years, at the end of which there will be a cost of service review.  So there will be an opportunity to examine the historic expenditures at that time for the major transmission projects.


MR. RODGER:  But I guess my point is, Dr. Poray, that when we look at these proceedings, whatever they are in 2008, 2009, you're not anticipating there's going to be any kind of prudence review on the -- you know, the merits of the -- what's come out of the IPSP process.  That's kind of done.  It's been decided.


You present numbers, Here's what it is costing us, here is what we have invested in 2008.  But that's not the nature of the process in 2008 and 2009, to get into the prudence of the numbers that are based on the IPSP decision?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  It cost us 100 million, that's what's going into the rate base.


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, if I could just interrupt, I fear we're not understanding each other here.  Dr. Poray can correct me if I'm wrong, but I think the confusion is coming out of the use of the word "prudence".


It's my understanding that the proposal is this, that the need for the project or the prudence of embarking on the project will be approved by the other process, but this company will bring back before this Board, before the dollars are put in rate base, the level of spending for each year in the adjustment period, 2009 and 2010, to satisfy the Board that the level of spending is reasonable.  I think that is right.


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  In as much as those projects come into service in 2009 and need to be included in the rate base, which affects the revenue requirement; that is what would be brought forward for those years.


MR. ROGERS:  And my friend ‑‑ sorry, Mr. Rodger, just permit me, the Board at that time would have the opportunity to make a decision as to whether the level of spending was appropriate or excessive before including it in the rate base.


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  That's helpful.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I'm sorry to interrupt in this process, but I don't want to be duplicating it later on and adding to the confusion.


But as I read the Board's proposal for the IPSP project, and I will read from page 10 of it, it says that 

"the Board in the IPSP will be doing what it would otherwise be doing in other aspects of the application of prudence." [as read]


As I read what the Board is proposing for the IPSP project, it is different from what Mr. Rogers and his witness panel are saying; that what would ordinarily take place in a rate proceeding, determining the prudence of the proposed expenditure, will be done in the IPSP process.  That's what it says in the Board's proposed guideline.


I apologize to Mr. Rodger and Mr. Rogers for interjecting at this point, but there is, I think, the danger of substantial confusion on this point.  I'm just going to raise it with the witness panel, but we would be going back over the same ground and adding to the confusion.  


I am happy to show Mr. Rogers the document I am referring to, which is the Board's guideline for what the IPSP process will entail.


MR. ROGERS:  I don't have to time to read it just now.


MS. NOWINA:  It's an interesting point and one which I think most of us should read at the break or over lunch hour to see if there are further questions of clarification on what the guidelines say and how that impacts what Hydro One is proposing.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Mark.


MR. RODGER:  That's fine.  That is helpful, Madam Chair.  I think what I will do in light of that is just leave any other questions on this particular issue until I do that over the lunch break.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. RODGER:  Just one final thing on this area, though.  Again, if you look at Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, page 27, it does talk about, at line 13:

"In June of 2008 Hydro One submits through the same written proceeding the 2009 capital investments identified in the OEB approved IPSP to be used for adjusting the 2008 asset base, as well as the non‑development capital for 2009."


My question is:  In the event that the IPSP is not approved within the timelines you're contemplating, what does this do to your plans over this period?  The condition seems to be that the OEB will have approved the IPSP by this time, so you will have that certainty.


DR. PORAY:  That is our assumption.


MR. RODGER:  So it could be ‑‑ my point is that it could be that everything we're talking about potentially could be delayed another year, perhaps, until you get that approval with respect to that particular category of assets, IPSP assets.


DR. PORAY:  To the extent that some of those projects need to be done to bring on ‑‑ to connect new generation or part of supply mix, then Hydro One would undertake to treat those as pre IPSP and submit them as part of section 92.


MR. RODGER:  Just, finally, looking at my category B on my exhibit, the evidence to be filed in 2008 and 2009, this laundry list of items, I take it that there is no anticipated, if I can call it upper cap for what the total dollar value will be.  It will be what it will be.


There's no understanding or sense that is an upper limit about what the total tally could be of all of these projects; is that fair?  We just don't know?


DR. PORAY:  The Board is not approving any caps or any values at this point in time.  They will be dealt with at the particular submission.


MR. RODGER:  That's right.  The total will be what the total will be?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Now, just now turning to ‑- maybe this again will be touched upon by the comments of the Chair earlier on about the nature of the process.  


No, I think I will leave those questions for now and I will review the material over the break.  I will leave that whole area for now.


Again, looking at my exhibit, we see that the IESO has to provide certain evidence, transmission charge determinants, and that Ontario transmitters also have to provide certain evidence.  I think you said last day that you hadn't actually discussed with other transmitters this approach, that you thought they were aware of it because of this process, but you hadn't actually sat down and discussed this with them; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And if, for example, other transmitters did want to revise their revenue requirement, would they also be relying on the RRAM mechanism as kind of a precedent set for you that other transmitters could take advantage of?  Is that contemplated by Hydro One?


DR. PORAY:  That would be up to the other transmitters to decide.


MR. RODGER:  But presumably they could.  If it was decided to be a reasonable mechanism for Hydro One for this kind of unique transitional period, it certainly could be acceptable ‑‑ accepted by other transmitters and put before the Board?


DR. PORAY:  They may wish to consider it.


MR. RODGER:  Hmm‑hmm.  Potentially it could be a precedent for distribution utilities?


DR. PORAY:  That would depend on what their requirements are, in terms of capital and OM&A expenditures.  But perhaps the distribution utilities are ‑‑ have a vehicle at this point in time, in the sense that they are going through a rebasing period between 2008 and 2010.


MR. RODGER:  Hmm‑hmm.  We know from your evidence that the implementation steps that you have articulated in Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, we know you're not asking for approval of those, and those were presented as one series of options, right, as a potential approach the Board could take; is that fair?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And in your approach, you are really talking about four separate OEB proceedings in 2008 and 2009, four separate OEB decisions; is that correct?  You've got the June 2008 written proceeding, for which there will be a decision; that is at line 9.  Then there is another decision in October, where the actual rates are established for the province; and then you repeat the same thing in 2009.  


So there would be four decisions from this Board to implement the RRAM?


DR. PORAY:  The RRAM will ‑‑ we haven't decided how many proceedings.  I guess that's something that -- that would be part of the development with the Board and the intervenors and Hydro One as to what the actual proceeding might look like.


It may be just one proceeding with four separate parts.


MR. RODGER:  Now, we know that you can't ‑‑ you don't have an answer as to what the total costs will be for the next few years, because of all of these uncertainties.  But have you given thought, even at a very high level, ballpark basis, of what you think the impact is going to be on transmission rates by implementing this process that you described for us?  Because we're potentially talking about a huge investment over the next three years.


DR. PORAY:  In our evidence at Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1 on page 25, and specifically lines 8 and 9, we show there that based on the revenue requirement for 2007 and 2008, the impact on customers' total bill would be less than one percent.  And we expect, given the levels of expenditures, that they would be somewhat similar to -- in 2009 and 2010. 


MR. RODGER:  My recollection is rate base is currently about 6.6 billion; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And you're adding about 1.3 billion in the next two years; is that correct, approximately?


DR. PORAY:  That seems okay.


MR. RODGER:  Then the quantum is unknown for 2009, 2010?


DR. PORAY:  Correct.


MR. RODGER:  Let me also return to a discussion you had with Ms. Campbell last day, the idea that this RRAM is a transitional mechanism.


Is it the utility's position that RRAM really only is a one‑time occurrence, 2009, 2010; thereafter we will be in the world of incentive regulation, and this is really truly a transitional step to deal with a very unique circumstance?


DR. PORAY:  We felt that this revenue adjustment mechanism is just that, a transitional mechanism until the next submission, which would probably involve a cost of service.  What happens thereafter is not quite clear yet, in terms of how things will develop in the province.


MR. RODGER:  Although I believe your evidence does say that Hydro One is committed towards moving towards incentive regulation.  Have I got that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  It is in the context of the Board is moving in the direction of incentive regulation for the distribution sector as well as the natural gas, and we feel that this will eventually apply to the transmission sector, as well.


MR. RODGER:  And I believe you've already stated in your evidence that you're going to use this interim period to begin collecting the relevant data that will be used to move forward with the evolution of incentive regulation for the transmission sector?  Have I got that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That is what we have said, yes.


MR. RODGER:  And in your view, Dr. Poray, is benchmarking an integral part of incentive regulation?


DR. PORAY:  It is.


MR. RODGER:  I just have one final area.  You talked last day about how Hydro One is open to working with the Board, working with intervenors to develop a suitable process with respect to RRAM; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And I believe you had a discussion with your own counsel where you agreed - I believe it is page 108 of the transcript - your willingness to modify the proposal that is being proposed today; is that fair?  I am reading from Mr. Rogers, top of page 108:

"While the company has a specific proposal that it asks this Board to approve, it is the concept itself which is of paramount importance to the company and it is open to working with Board Staff and intervenors as we move forward to modify it or approve the formula that is being proposed."


Your answer, Dr. Poray, is: "That is correct."


DR. PORAY:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And I took it from that exchange that the RRAM concept is not one solid bundle of components that has to be accepted by this Board with or without changes.  It's not a take-it-or-leave-it position; is that fair?


DR. PORAY:  It's a concept that we have put forward that we feel is workable, but we are open to suggestions from the intervenors and from the Board.


MR. RODGER:  And can you accept and understand, Dr. Poray, the uneasiness that may be present with AMPCO members, as we sit here today, because we're really in a real sense being asked to accept a pig in a poke?


In this case, we really don't know the size of the pig or the size of the poke.  There are a lot of uncertainties; IPSP, how much transmission, where, when, at what costs.  We have the laundry list of my exhibit of all of this information that's going to be coming after this hearing.


And, again, we want to be sure that there is a balancing of interests here as we move forward into this area of certainty.  


So I ask those questions in the context of this:  Do you really need the concept approved at this proceeding, because you've told us that your big driver here is that you really can't go through a full cost of service hearing in the timelines.  It would divert too much management attention.  


But if you got, for example, a decision from this Board that says, We'll give you the guidance that you're looking for on category 2 projects; we understand the need; we'll give you the guidance that gives you the comfort.  We're not going to make you go through a full cost of service proceeding in these circumstances, but we want you to have a stakeholdering process after this hearing to get into some of the detail that I've been talking about and my friend Mr. Warren has raised, in light of the uncertainties that are ahead.


So my question to you is:  Could you still achieve your objectives without having this concept approved at this hearing?


DR. PORAY:  I think Hydro One would certainly, as I've said and is recorded in the transcript, that we're willing to work with the intervenors to try and sort out the details, but I think Hydro One would like the assurance of having a concept approved by the Board as a mechanism for moving forward, where the details would be subject to a review, but it would be a review which is much more streamlined than a full cost of service.


MR. RODGER:  And the reason I raise that question, Dr. Poray, is that the process we're in now -- very valuable, very important, but it doesn't really lend itself to this idea that you talked about of kind of meeting with the Board and Board Staff and intervenors to kind modify the proposal.  


I'm not being critical, this is the process we're in.  But if there was a way that you can, from the utility's point of view, get what you need to move forward, but also allow the intervenors to have input in a meaningful way, then that may help the Board do its balancing act.  Is that acceptable?


DR. PORAY:  I thought that was what we were suggesting here, that we had a concept in place, but we could work out the details in a subsequent development proceeding.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Dr. Poray.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  So, Mr. Rodger, you want to go back to your question after we've had a look at the IPSP guidelines?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  And perhaps I can talk to my friend, Mr. Warren.  Perhaps he could cover those areas off for me.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  What I would like to propose, then, because Mr. Warren was going to go next, is that we take a half-hour break now in order for us to find those guidelines and all of us to look at them, and then take a shorter lunch break today.  Does anyone have any problems with that in terms of scheduling?


All right.


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, just for purposes of efficiency, the questions that I had dealt with the regulatory consistency and streamlining component, and they appear on page 10 of the guidelines that have been issued.  I intend to ask some questions about that, so that is what my point of focus is.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Although, Mr. Warren, I was thinking we needed to look at the context of the guidelines, so we may want to look at other pages.


All right, we will break until five past 11:00.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:36 a.m. 

‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 11:05 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


I assume everyone has had a chance to look at the "Report of the Board on the Review of, and Filing Guidelines Applicable to, the Ontario Power Authority's Integrated Power System Plan and Procurement Processes", and that has a date on it of December 27th, 2006.


I'm going to read from what the Panel believes are the relevant portions of this document and that, perhaps, will set the basis for the questioning going forward, if we can agree on the meaning of that reading.


So I'm starting on page 10, mid way through the paragraph that begins under the heading F with the word "streamlining":

"Streamlining, in this context, does not mean that applicable regulatory approvals will necessarily be avoided.  Rather, requiring that a detailed rationale for electricity projects be provided in the IPSP can result in the creation of an analysis that can be relied upon by electricity project proponents in addressing the scope of subsequent regulatory review.  

"Regulatory streamlining opportunities will therefore be sought in relation to projects that are examined as part of the Board's review of the IPSP, and the IPSP review proceeding will be used to address as many issues as is feasible in relation to proposed projects that otherwise would be reviewed on a case‑by‑case basis as part of another of the Board's statutory functions.  In other words, issues that are adequately addressed..."

- and I emphasize, "adequately addressed" -

"... in the context of the IPSP will not be subject to re-examination by the Board at a later date.  Parties with an interest in those issues must therefore ensures that their positions are brought forward during the IPSP proceeding."


I will skip the next sentence and go on to the next paragraph.

"The potential for streamlining is greatest in relation to the Board's regulatory approvals associated with transmission system investments.  Traditionally, these include a review of transmission investment costs (as part of a transmitter's capital budget in a rates proceeding) and the Board's approval of applications for leave to construct transmission facilities.  To the extent..."

- and, again, I will emphasize "to the extent" -

"... that the need for and costs associated with a project are assessed by the Board in the context of the IPSP, those issues will not thereafter be revisited except in relation to any material deviations.  If the likelihood of obtaining the benefits of the streamlined approach to transmission system investments noted above were to be maximized, the rationale for a project would need to be at a level of detail at least equal to that which would be required to satisfy the requirements of the Board's review of a transmitter's capital budget in a rates proceeding or the Board's approval of an application for leave to construct transmission facilities."


Let me go back and re-emphasize that:

"...the rationale for a project would need to be at least of detail ..."  

Excuse me:

"...the rationale for a project would need to be at a level of detail at least equal to that which would be required to satisfy the requirements of the Board's review of a transmitter's capital budget..." 

in other regulatory proceedings.  So that's the end of what it says.  


Our reading of that is that on a project-by-project basis, the IPSP may ‑‑ the IPSP process may provide adequate detail on need and/or adequate detail on costs for that to be the only place required for review.  But if that adequacy is not there, then the review will have to take place at a subsequent regulatory process.


So is that sufficient for us to go ahead?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Warren.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Panel, can I just stay with this subject for a moment.  The Chair has just read the relevant portions of the Board's proposed guidelines for the IPSP, and, at the risk of providing instant commentary outside of the confines of Fox News, can I say that there is a possibility that envisages ‑ and I won't put it any higher than a possibility ‑ that there will be -- the IPSP process that will review the capital projects that come out of the plan, there may or may not be a sufficient level of detail in it to effectively preclude a section 92 review or a rates hearing review, but there may not be.


So there is the possibility inherent in that that there will be a debate among the OPA, the presiding Board members, intervenors, Hydro One Networks, about whether the one process has effectively precluded or foreclosed the other, or whether there need to be two processes.  Can we agree with that, the possibility of a debate about all of those options obtaining, based on what's in those guidelines?


 DR. PORAY:  It's possible, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, as we look to the, if you wish, regulatory timeline, it certainly will be the case that major capital projects arising from the IPSP will be reviewed at least by the Board as part of the IPSP process.  Whether that's all they do is an open question, but they will be doing that at some point in the next year and a half or two years; fair enough?


DR. PORAY:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  It's also possible that the Board may have section 92 proceedings that are related to the matters considered in the IPSP process.  We've just agreed on that.  It's not a certainty, but it is a possibility; correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  In addition to that, there will be a category of projects which are not IPSP, but which are capital projects which may require a section 92 review; correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's what we've termed the non‑IPSP projects.


MR. WARREN:  Right.  So it is certainly going to be the case that Hydro One Networks, in relation to its capital projects, is going to be before the Board for a substantial number of those projects; is that not fair?


DR. PORAY:  That's possible.


MR. WARREN:  So when we talk about regulatory streamlining, which is one of the themes that underlies the RRAM ‑ I'm sorry, whatever the acronym is ‑ that what we're really talking about in terms of regulatory streamlining is taking out from that the Board's scrutiny of the OM&A costs.  Is that not fair?  Because the Board is certainly going to be looking - extensively, perhaps - at the capital projects; is that not fair?


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a minute.


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  In terms of your question on the OM&A, the 2007 and 2008 proceeding provides an opportunity for the detailed scrutiny of OM&A costs, and then going forward from that, through the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism, will be the incremental OM&A which is associated with routine‑type work in maintaining the assets.


MR. WARREN:  Dr. Poray, you may not have understood my question, for which I apologize.  It wasn't a model of lucidity.  Let me go back at it again.


I am dealing thematically with one of the underlying principles for this proposal, which is -- or two of them: regulatory streamlining, saving the Board and Hydro One the time coming before the Board; and, number two, saving your staff time in coming before the Board on a cost of service application.


What I'm suggesting to you is that the only subject matter which your proposal eliminates from Board purview are OM&A costs, because all of those capital costs, or most of them, are going to be before the Board in either IPSP or section 92 or both; is that not fair?


DR. PORAY:  No, because what we've suggested as part of the submission that Hydro One will make in 2009 will be the approval of the OM&A costs, and there will be a due process.  So the adjustments that are made to the OM&A costs will, in fact, be treated within that proceeding.


MR. WARREN:  I am going to return to that due process in a moment, but just as a final follow-up to this, can you and I agree, Dr. Poray, that depending on what the Board approves in the IPSP or the section 92 applications or both, those will affect the level of OM&A costs?  If you've got three projects approved, it's fewer or lower in OM&A costs than if you've got five projects approved; is that not the case?


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me.


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  It is our view that there may be some impact on some administrative costs, but, for the most part, the OM&A costs would not be impacted by the capital plans.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, let me turn to another topic, and the question I am about to ask you has a component of a legal question, but I am asking it from a broader perspective of the applicant before the Board.


Has Hydro One Networks satisfied itself that this Panel sitting on this application has the authority to approve the mechanism by which rates will be set in 2009, 2010?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I have legal opinions, Madam Chair, but that is not what my friend asked for.  The witness can certainly tell whether the company has satisfied itself about this. 


DR. PORAY:  It is our understanding that the Board has the authority to approve the concept that we are seeking.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, as I understand your evidence ‑‑ and perhaps in this context you could turn up the transcript from the last day's proceeding, at page 108.  I apologize.  It begins on page 107, and it is a question from your counsel.  


At the bottom of the page, it says:   

"I take it from your comments just now that while the company has a specific proposal that it asks this Board to approve, it is the concept itself which is of paramount importance to the company?"


Then it goes on:

"And it is open" - meaning the company is open - 

"to working with Board Staff and intervenors as we move forward to modify or approve the formula that's being proposed?"


And your answer is: 

"That is correct."


I want to see if I can understand, Dr. Poray, what you envisage happening after the Board approves the mechanism.  Is it the case that there would be some formal or informal process convened by Hydro One which will review all aspects of this rate-setting mechanism?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, it is our belief that there will be a formal process in which the -- if you like, the numbers and the parameters would be discussed and agreed upon.


MR. WARREN:  And is it possible, as a result of that process, that that will have an effect on the operation of the mechanism itself, God always being in the details?


DR. PORAY:  I don't believe that it would affect the operation of the mechanism.  What we are asking the Board to approve in this proceeding is a mechanism which entails three factors, inflation, productivity, and asset aging factor, but not the numbers themselves.


MR. WARREN:  Let's use a specific example.  In that process which follows, is it open to -- is the productivity factor open for discussion?


DR. PORAY:  What we are proposing in this particular case, based on the evidence which we have submitted here, which we feel is substantive, that the productivity factor can be set by the Board at this point in time and that it remain fixed for the period.


MR. WARREN:  So I take it the answer to my question is, no, the productivity factor is not on the table in those discussions?


DR. PORAY:  That was our proposal.


MR. WARREN:  Well, it's your proposal.  Let's suppose, for example, that my friend Mr. Rodger comes forward with compelling evidence that suggests that the productivity factor ought to be either 0.5 or 1.5.  Could Hydro One at that point agree to a change, saying, We're persuaded that that's appropriate?


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me.


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  I think if there is compelling evidence that would suggest that the information that we've submitted in this evidence is perhaps not sufficient to maintain that level of productivity factor and that there is a need to consider another value, then I think probably Hydro One would be open to suggestions.


MR. WARREN:  So do I take it from that that the Board would be approving a mechanism which might be subject to change subsequently in discussions with the intervenors and Board Staff?  Is that not the logic of what you've just said?


DR. PORAY:  The logic of this whole proposal is that we've put forward a mechanism which we feel is appropriate to adjust the revenue requirement for the period of time that we are considering, but that we've left the details of that concept for development with intervenors and the Board.


MR. WARREN:  Let's just stay with this process.


What is Hydro One's expectation with respect to this, let me use the term consultation process, if I can, what's envisaged?  Is it envisaged that the results of this consultation process would be brought back to the Board in some subsequent proceeding for the Board's review and approval?


DR. PORAY:  That is our understanding.


MR. WARREN:  And when would that happen?


DR. PORAY:  Well, we've put forward an idea in Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1 in section 6, in terms of the implementation steps, and we indicated that over the period June to December the process and the approvals would take place.  So it would be a six‑month process that we envisaged.


MR. WARREN:  But is it a formal application which Hydro One Networks brings forward to say to the Board, This is ‑‑ you've approved a mechanism and here are the numbers.  Is that what is contemplated by you?


DR. PORAY:  It is, indeed.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if there is no agreement as a result of this consultation, are you then in a position or are you not then in a position of having a contested hearing before the Board on what the formula or what the mechanism produces?


DR. PORAY:  Well, my understanding is that we would work with the intervenors to ‑‑ and the Board Staff to come to a solution that would allow this mechanism to work.


MR. WARREN:  Generally the intervenors, in my experience, are amiable and cooperative crowd, but it is possible that you may not -- reasonable people acting reasonably and fairly may not agree on what the numbers produce.  


Would you not agree that if they don't come to an agreement with you, then you're back before the Board on a contested hearing about what the appropriate numbers ought to be?


DR. PORAY:  It's always possible for that to happen, but our expectation is that if the Board approves this mechanism, then that is a signal that this is beneficial to move forward with and therefore we should do our best to work together to achieve a solution.


MR. WARREN:  My point -- and I don't want to belabour this thing beyond the point I've already taken it, but my point, Dr. Poray, can we not agree that if you're back before the Board on a contested hearing, with evidence from all sides about what the appropriate numbers ought to be, that that is really, in effect, the same as a cost of service hearing?  It's a contested hearing, with all of the evidence, and witnesses, and prefiled evidence, and so own and so forth.  Could we not agree on that? 


DR. PORAY:  It could be.  


MR. WARREN:  I want you to turn up, if you can, please, two items.  One is the transcript from Tuesday and my reference is page 95.  And at the same time if you could turn up the prefiled evidence Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, at page 26.  


MR. ROGERS:  Could you give me those again, please.  I missed it, Mr. Warren. 


MR. WARREN:  Transcript is page 95, Mr. Rogers.  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MR. WARREN:  And the prefiled evidence is Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, page 26.  


Now, panel, I am looking in the prefiled evidence at the top of page 26, beginning at line 3 and I quote:   

"Given the uncertainty of the amount of these capital expenditures and their ultimate in-service dates, it is appropriate to include the actual cost in rates as they occur.  This approach avoids both a risk to Hydro One of delayed recognition of these capital expenditures, and minimizes the risk (through smoothing of rates) to customer impacts of large increases at future dates."  


The exchange on page 95 of the transcript begins at line 13, where Mr. Rogers says, and I quote:  

"Are there other categories here that we have talked about that relate to the supply mix, for example, which the company's proposing be included in rate base even though these projects are not yet in service?"


Answer:  

"That is correct.”  


Now, Dr. Poray, it has always been my understanding -- which may be incorrect, but it has always been my understanding that one of the basic principles of ratemaking is that a utility or transmission company does not earn a return on investments until they're used and useful, until they're actually in service.  Would you agree that is a regulatory principle?  


DR. PORAY:  That is so, yes.  


MR. WARREN:  Would you agree with me that what you're proposing is to overturn that regulatory principle or to deviate from that regulatory principle?  


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a minute.  


[Witness panel confers]  


DR. PORAY:  The proposal that we are making, in terms of including in the rate base the expenditures as they're incurred, is only in connection with the supply mix projects, the four supply mix projects, which I believe are, will be discussed in the next set of -- in the next section of this panel.  


MR. WARREN:  With respect to those supply mix projects, my question is:  Would you not agree that you're asking the Board to deviate from that basic ratemaking principle?  


DR. PORAY:  I will get Mr. Innis to help me out.  


MR. INNIS:  That would be a change from what has been ruled before, and we'll be discussing that in the next portion of this panel in terms of some of the precedents that have been established for that.  


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can we agree, though, panel, that deviating from that ratemaking principle has nothing to do with regulatory streamlining and nothing to do with saving you folks time, it's because you want money for those projects sooner than you would otherwise get them?  You have an argument in favour of it.  I appreciate that.  That will come next.  But, it has nothing to do with this RCAM rationale, does it?  RRAM, I'm sorry, whatever it is.  RRAM, Ms. Girvan tells me.  


MR. INNIS:  The treatment of the four supply mix projects is separate from the revenue adjustment model, although it would have a carry-forward impact in 2009 and 2010.  


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Could you just, as a prelude to what we're going to hear next, can you tell me what the anticipated capital cost of those four projects is?  


MR. INNIS:  The total costs of those projects would be in the order of $1 billion over the life of the construction period of those projects.  


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, Dr. Poray, in response to an earlier question from me today, you said that with respect to OM&A costs, you envisaged what you describe or characterize as a due process.  Do you remember giving that answer to me?  


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I do. 


MR. WARREN:  Can you -- 


DR. PORAY:  Yes I do. 


MR. WARREN:  Can you describe for me what that due process entails.  


DR. PORAY:  Our understanding is that when we would develop the adjustment factors, the actual numbers in 2008 for 2009, we would work with the intervenors and then Hydro One's proposal would be to submit the adjustments to the revenue requirement using those factors, using the approved levels of OM&A that this Board approved for 2007 and 2008, and Hydro One would then submit that as a request for revenue requirement approval for 2009.  


MR. WARREN:  And the process envisaged by that, is that the filing of an application seeking Board approval?  Is that what is envisaged?  


DR. PORAY:  That will be the case. 


MR. WARREN:  If there is no agreement on that, I take it we can agree that we are, then, facing a contested hearing?  


DR. PORAY:  That could be the case.  


MR. WARREN:  And if we're facing a contested hearing, may I suggest to you that that is not, in substance, different, in terms of time and effort, from a cost of service application, is that not fair?  


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, what's -- 


MR. WARREN:  Different from a cost of service application. 


MR. ROGERS:  In time and effort?  You're asking him to agree it is the same time and effort that would be required for a full cost of service hearing?  I just missed the words, Mr. Warren, sorry. 


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Dr. Poray.  Mr. Rogers -- this may be a function of age but I've forgotten. 


MS. NOWINA:  I can tell you, Mr. Rogers, because I get the transcript.  

"May I suggest to you that it is not in substance different in terms of time and effort from a cost of service application?"  

That's what you said, Mr. Warren. 


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  


DR. PORAY:  I believe that it is -- 


MR. WARREN:  It's a failing asset, I have to tell you.  Frightening too.  


DR. PORAY:  Our view that it is quite different, because the time required generally for a cost of service application is fairly significant and in this particular situation, we are looking to something much more streamlined and shorter than a general cost of service proceeding would take.  


MR. WARREN:  Fair answer.  But what you are dealing with are contested issues with respect to the appropriate level of OM&A costs that should be recovered in rates.  Is that not fair?  


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me.  


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  Our expectation is that if we move forward with this - and I've said this before - is that this is of advantage to all parties involved and therefore that all parties will work together to try and reach an amicable solution and thus avoid this situation that you are trying to portray.  


MR. WARREN:  So the hope is that reasonable people will act reasonably and come to an agreement; is that right?  


DR. PORAY:  In response to a reasonable proposal.  


MR. WARREN:  I would like to, with not inconsiderable trepidation, ask a couple of questions about asset aging with the preliminary personal observation that I think that's a term that applies to me.  


As I understand it, the concept of asset aging is one which is unique to Hydro One.  In other words, there are no other precedents that you are aware of - I believe my friend Ms. Campbell asked this the other day - that you have relied on for this particular concept of asset aging.  


DR. PORAY:  Not at all; there are other transmitters on the North American continent and elsewhere in the world who are faced with the same situation.  


MR. WARREN:  Fair answer to an imprecisely asked question.  But in terms of a formula for setting rates, the concept of asset aging as I understand it is unique to Hydro One Networks.  There are no precedents for it in formulae for setting rates; is that fair?


DR. PORAY:  In terms of the asset aging factor which we have developed, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can you tell me what research underlies the connection between asset aging and OM&A costs.  Are there studies that you have that link the two?


DR. PORAY:  As I noted earlier on, I'm not the expert on asset aging and asset‑related issues.


These were covered by the experts that were present on panel 1 and 2.


What I can say is -- and again, I can refer you to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2, which talks about the asset deterioration being dependent on a number of factors, of which age is one; and that the determination of the programs that Hydro One puts in place for its OM&A and for its capital takes into account all of those factors, in terms of setting the OM&A levels and the capital levels.


So the linkage between asset aging and costs is part and parcel of that package.


MR. WARREN:  I want to parse the answer.  I appreciate, Dr. Poray, that you are not the expert on asset aging, but it is also the case that the concept of asset aging with respect to OM&A and assets are central to the formula which this panel of witnesses is asking the Board to consider; right?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, but what I would like to add is that the asset aging factor is in fact covering a broader multitude of things than just asset aging.  It covers essentially all of the aspects associated with the deterioration of the performance in the transmission assets, and that ‑‑ and what that would require in terms of OM&A expenditures and capital expenditures.


So that asset aging factor is really meant to reflect that there is work that needs to be done on an ongoing basis, and looking forward to 2009 and 2010 that is related to mitigating the deteriorating performance in the assets as a result of the assets getting older.


MR. WARREN:  Let me go back to my original question.


For purposes of this particular proposal, the RRAM approval, I asked the question:  Do you have any studies or reports or analyses which link the level of OM&A costs and aging assets?  And what you pointed me to was the chart which is in your prefiled evidence or an interrogatory response or both.  Is that fair?


DR. PORAY:  No.  I pointed you to the evidence that Hydro One has submitted in support of its OM&A and capital expenditures.


MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understand it, this asset aging formula will apply to all of your assets as this mechanism operates; is that not fair?


DR. PORAY:  It operates ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  And, sorry, OM&A costs.


DR. PORAY:  I'm sorry, I don't quite understand your question.


MR. WARREN:  Let me give you a specific example.  The Ontario Grid Control Centre in Barrie is a new facility; correct?


DR. PORAY:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  But the asset aging formula will apply to that facility.  In other words, it doesn't ‑‑ you haven't segregated out the aged assets from the youthful assets and said the asset aging formula will only apply to these assets and the OM&A costs associated with them.  It is to everything that Hydro One Networks has; correct?


DR. PORAY:  The asset aging factor is applicable to the sustainment, development and operations OM&A, and similarly for the capital in the sustainment and operations, and that would pertain to all transmission assets, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the formulae, with its built-in escalators or multipliers, if you wish, would apply to certain costs which are fixed and don't change over the course of the costs which are fixed and don't change over the course of the next few years?  I'm thinking, in particular, of the Cornerstone project where the Accenture costs are fixed for the life of the contract.


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a moment.


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  The answer to your question is yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, this answer I think is on the record, and if it is, I apologize to everybody in the room, particularly the panel members.  But, as I understand it, what you've said is that the productivity factor you're using is one which is based on Hydro One Networks and not based on an industry‑wide assessment; is that fair?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And are you in the process ‑‑ is Hydro One in the process of undertaking an industry‑wide productivity analysis?


DR. PORAY:  We haven't done anything like that, no.  And I should just add to that, that this specific application is focussed on Hydro One using all of the information which Hydro One has provided, and therefore we felt it appropriate to use the productivity and savings factor which we've tracked and which we've provided for in the evidence as part of the adjustment formula for Hydro One's revenue requirement.


MR. WARREN:  I have ‑‑ I apologize, panel.  I'm way over my time limit, but I have just two areas of questions.


Can we agree, you've said that the underlying rationale for this RRAM proposal is a ‑‑ because your staff is occupied on other projects and because -- in terms of regulatory efficiency, as well.  Can we not agree that if the Board were to approve this, that it also reduces your regulatory risk?  You know what your rates are going to be.  There is no risk the rates will be reduced; fair?


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  I think our view is that this mechanism doesn't necessarily reduce the risk, the regulatory risk, because regulatory risks involve a whole broader range of issues that are not necessarily covered by the revenue adjustment mechanism.


MR. WARREN:  Well, Dr. Poray, I don't want to argue with you, but I confess that your answer strikes me as counterintuitive.  If you are taking at least a portion of your costs, particularly the OM&A costs, in addition to which if you're recovering a return on investments before they're used and useful, that at least for those areas you have assured yourself of a certain return which the Board isn't going to change for a period of three or four years.  


Surely you would have to agree that that is an element of regulatory risk which has been eliminated?


MR. INNIS:  The revenue adjustment model would establish a level of OM&A, and the company would be spending to that level of OM&A.  We would take the risk for cost over that amount or under that amount.


So I don't see this as necessarily reducing the level of risk involved.


MR. WARREN:  Well, you have control over those expenditure levels, correct, so you can control that risk.  It is not like the Board comes along and says, you know, We're not going to allow you to recover that.  Those are two different phenomena.  Can we not agree on that? 


MR. INNIS:  In some cases we would be able to control those costs.  Other costs are fixed.  


MR. WARREN:  My final question panel and I apologize, I'm going back to something I should have covered off before and this is the concept of due process.  


When the OM&A matters come before the Board, assuming that the various stakeholders can't reach an agreement, do you envisage, Dr. Poray, that there will be the ordinary Board processes of an application, interrogatories, ADR, all of that stuff?  


DR. PORAY:  I've lost my light here.  Here we go.  


MR. WARREN:  A frightening thought that the lights have gone out on Hydro One Networks.  


MS. NOWINA:  Let's not even contemplate that.  


MR. ROGERS:  Just while Dr. Poray is conferring, I can say that I will have some submissions about this I think in due course as to what process, if any, ought to be implemented, but I am quite happy to have Dr. Poray give his view.  He has thought about this, I know. 


DR. PORAY:  I think our general view is that the due process that would be in place associated with the Hydro One submission for revenue requirement adjustment would address these sort of issues.  


MR. WARREN:  Do you expect this Panel, in considering the RRAM application that's before the Board, would consider what the filing processes -- filing requirements would be?  Are they going to be set as part of this case or is there some other mechanism whereby the filing and hearing and disposition processes will be dealt with?  


DR. PORAY:  As we have indicated in our submission and in the direct evidence, we are not asking this Panel to approve a due process, that that would be worked out with the Board Staff and with intervenors and Hydro One after this proceeding was finished.  


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Those are my questions, and my apologies to everyone for being too long.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Buonaguro, does your time estimate still stand?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I hopefully will be less than two hours.  I have crossed off a number of topics.  I'm fine if you want to take the lunch break now or...


MS. NOWINA:  No.  I would like to proceed and, if that means that you have to break your cross then we will do it.  Why don't you aim for a convenient break in your cross at one o'clock and we will take the lunch break then. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  The only other caveat is I would like to have my computer as I have in the past and it takes me about five minutes to set up.  So the only other -- I have talked to Mr. DeVellis and he has some cross on this as well.  We could switch, but I don't know if he is going to go an hour to a lunch break or we could take five minutes and I could set up my computer. 


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we just take a five-minute recess and then come back.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  


--- Recess taken at 11:58 p.m. 



‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 12:06 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  All set, Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.  I have managed to cut down my cross on a number of areas, but there are still some things that pop in and out, so if they seem a little disjunctive, I apologize, but the questions should make sense as they go on.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in earlier cross‑examination, people have been asking or intervenors have been asking about regulatory efficiency and effectiveness and such topics, and one of the things that I wanted to touch on quickly was the assumption or the ‑‑ the assumption built into the proposal that one of the reasons you wanted to do it this way is that the distribution business will be subject to a cost of service review in 2011, and that would be the same year you would come back with the transmission, so that you could do a joint filing.  


Is that correct, in terms of my understanding of part of your proposal?


DR. PORAY:  That was one of the considerations, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the distribution business is subject to the third generation incentive regulation methodology as it's being developed; right?


DR. PORAY:  It will be.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And we don't have any details about the duration of that plan at this time, do we?


DR. PORAY:  No.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in the consultation with the Board with respect to the second generation incentive regulation mechanism, which Hydro One distribution is currently subject to, my understanding is that, generally speaking, five-year terms have become standard and some plans of considerably longer duration have been approved.  That's a quote from Mark Lowry during that process.


So basically the point is five years or longer is not unusual for incentive mechanisms.  Is that your understanding?


DR. PORAY:  It is not unusual.  The second generation incentive regulatory mechanism is applicable for three years.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


Now, but if Hydro One becomes subject to a third generation before 2010, it is possible that there won't be ‑‑ there will be a misalignment, that the transmission may come forward in 2011, for 2011, but the distribution may not?


DR. PORAY:  I believe that irrespective of whether you have an incentive regulatory mechanism or not, the applicant always has the ability to come forward with a cost of service application.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you don't think that is a problem?


DR. PORAY:  I don't envisage that as a problem, no.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I hate to do it, but I do have a couple of very small questions on the asset aging evidence, and I apologize.  They're very short.


Essentially, there are three undertakings that have been thrown about, in terms of establishing asset aging as a basis for the RRAM mechanism, and I am talking about ‑‑ well, we'll start with the first, the one that you referred to in your evidence-in‑chief, which is J‑5-14.


I pulled up the table from that on the screen just so you recognize what I'm talking about.


And the other two are J‑6-1 and J‑1-20, which I can pull up quickly, just so people will recognize them.  So J-6-1 was the one that broke down assets by circuit breakers, transformers, et cetera, and then there was J‑1-20, which gave us several graphs, trying to give a snapshot of different sets of assets over time.


Now, my understanding from the original evidence, in terms of J-6-1 and J‑1-20, the last two, that there was a problem in that the database that was used to create these was a rolling database, so that you could only give us a snapshot at the time ‑‑ the current snapshot at the time, and you couldn't do historical snapshots.  Do I have that right?


DR. PORAY:  I can't really comment on that.  I can comment on the information that we provided in J-5-14, which were two snapshots, okay.  There were two snapshots there, one as of December 31st, 2005 and one as of December 31st, 2000.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying that ‑‑ assuming I understand the problem with the other two undertakings, which was that they come from a database which is a rolling one, are you suggesting that this exhibit doesn't have that same problem?


DR. PORAY:  The information that we have provided here was pulled from Hydro One's fixed asset database.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Was -- the information in the other two undertakings, did they come from that same database?


DR. PORAY:  That I can't speak to.  I don't know.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps I can take an undertaking just to confirm what databases the information came from, if they're different or the same, or maybe an explanation.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That would be K6.1.


UNDERTAKING NO. K6.1:  CLARIFY EXHIBIT J-5-14; 


WHETHER "ROLLING" BASIS OR NOT.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  K6.1.  Mr. Buonaguro, though, I wonder if you can ask your questions about this information that would clarify whether or not it was 

done ‑‑


MR. BUONAGURO:  Why it is important?


MS. NOWINA:  Whether these are on a rolling basis 

or ‑‑


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I think the witness has said -- and maybe you could confirm.  Your understanding of this exhibit is this is not a rolling basis.  So, for example - maybe this will make it clearer - if you could go back in time to December 31st, 2000 and access the computer database that this came from to reproduce the column under transmission, December 31st, 2000 data, it wouldn't be any different?


You could actually ‑‑ it's the same as if you were going back in time and doing it on that day?


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a minute.


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  All that I can say is that the data that is presented here is accurate, as presented.  But as to being able to now go back and recreate the 2000, I don't know.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you may have ‑‑ you may have the same problem with this exhibit that you have with the other two, J-6-1 and J‑1-20, but you can't tell me?


DR. PORAY:  I can't comment on that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So as part of that undertaking, I am hoping to get that cleared up, to see if all three exhibits suffer from the same rolling database problem, I will call it, or whether there is something unique about this exhibit that it comes from a different database which isn't on a rolling basis and therefore it gives you accurate historical snapshots.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Rogers, can I ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  Go ahead.


MR. RUPERT:  I'm just thinking back to one of the things that happened on the second day, I think, where you had undertaken K2.6, if I have the right number, to do an expanded analysis or some piece on the whole asset aging thing.  Is this something that you will or can deal with in that undertaking?


MR. ROGERS:  I think we've nearly got that ready to file, but I can either ‑‑ I can tell you this, sir.  I can either do it in that undertaking answer, or separately, if you will allow us.  We'll try to present it in the most cogent way we can.  


I think I understand the point.  I think there is a very good answer for this, so it will either form part of the previous undertaking or a new one ‑‑ or I will consider it part of K6.1, if you like.


MS. NOWINA:  Does it matter to you, Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  We had thought that it might fit in with the previous undertaking, because all three exhibits relate to the same sort of information trend that they're trying to present.


So either one; it doesn't matter to me.


MS. NOWINA:  We will let this undertaking number stand, and you can let us know when you file the undertakings whether or not you have combined them.


MR. ROGERS:  Fine, thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  It's my hope that I don't have to refer to any of those exhibits again in my cross.  


Now, I would like to delve into some of the details, the development of the OM&A aging factor and hopefully deal concentrate on ones that haven't been dealt with yet.  


And the reference is at Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2.  


This is the -- it has been referred to, obviously, before.  It is the way in which the 5.19 percent aging factor SDO OM&A has been calculated by the company.  As I understand it's now illustrative of how it might look, depending on what input you put into the table.  


I think, as we go along, my comments will probably apply equally to the development of the capital aging factor.  


My first question has to do with choosing 2003 as the base year.  Is there any magic to that?  


DR. PORAY:  This is consistent with the information which Hydro One filed as part of its total evidence for the cost of service and so we started with that as the first year.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the last Board-approved number would be 2000; correct?  


DR. PORAY:  The last time that Hydro One had its rate base approved was 2000, yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that, for example, if we used the range 2000 to 2008 as opposed to 2003 to 2008, the starting figure would change from 185.7 to something, I think it is 201 million.  Maybe you could take that subject to check.  And that would have an impact on the percentage.  Correct?  


DR. PORAY:  Well, obviously it would, yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And there is nothing special about 2003 as a starting point, other than that's what you put into your evidence.  


DR. PORAY:  It's part of the total evidence of data that was submitted in support of this cost of service application and the revenue requirement adjustment model that we have developed.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, looking at -- I think Mr. Rodger touched on this in one way, and I am going to do it from the other way.  


If you take the 5.19 percent that you have calculated here on this table and you applied it to determine what the 2004 amount would be, so from 2003, 2004 you applied a factor of 5.19 percent, the result -- and I suggest you might take this subject to check -- would be 9.6 million dollar increase as opposed to what was actually there, which was 25.2. 


DR. PORAY:  Subject to check. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Something like that?  


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Which is less than half of the actual value that you needed or presumably needed for 2004.  Correct?  


DR. PORAY:  Based on that calculation.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then following through, again if you use a growth factor of 5.19 percent, through to 2007, you would get -- for 2007 your residual SDO OM&A costs would be $41.7 million, subject to check.  


DR. PORAY:  Subject to check.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Which is, again, about $15 million less than what you actually spent or what you're applying for in this hearing, based on your evidence.  


DR. PORAY:  Based on your calculation.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.  


So it would appear to us, and perhaps you can agree, that the historical values, the existing historical values and even what you're applying for in 2007, 2008 don't match the trend that you're trying to set for 2009, 2010.  


DR. PORAY:  The idea of using the historical values was to essentially try and get some idea, in terms of what the trend is, which I think the residual SDO OM&A indicates, and then, in the actual calculation, the final number is dependent on the five years data.  This is the data on line 5 and then the final number being the difference in line -- oops.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  That's my screen saver.  I have to disable that next time.  


DR. PORAY:  So the final number is as a result of the calculations in line 5 going from 2003, 2004 -- 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 and then the difference between the row 1 and row 5, and it's the compound effect of that.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I think my question was a simpler one, which is simply that if you apply your trend historically, it doesn't match with the actuals historically, and in some cases there's significant variations. 


DR. PORAY:  On average, though, we would expect -- there would be ups and downs, yes, but on average, we're saying that that 5.19 is representative.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, even if we were to accept that there is a trend, would you agree that the actual values in a particular year vary wildly from the trend and there is no reason to expect that they wouldn't vary for 2009, 2010?  What you actually need in those years as opposed to what the trend over time might indicate?  


DR. PORAY:  Our expectation is that on a going-forward, there would be -- they would follow the trend.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Even though the particular year won't match the trend or may not match the trend?  


DR. PORAY:  It may not match exactly, no.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I guess the way you would know whether it matches the trend exactly is by determining what you actually need for a particular year?  


DR. PORAY:  So for example, if we come forward in 2008, we would have what the Board's approved number for 2008 would be, and then if there are indications in 2008 that that number might, in fact, be slightly different, then we would recalculate the factor to reflect that.  And that would then be subject to approval by the Board.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  That sounds to me like you're saying we should accept the trend unless the evidence shows that the trend is wrong.  


DR. PORAY:  Well, the trend has been established on the basis of the information or the best information that we have at this point in time.  And that's why we felt at this point in time, we're not asking for approval of the factor, the value of the factor.  


We will have that approved in the proceeding that will deal with the revenue requirement adjustment in 2008 for 2009.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So even if the 2007, 2008 spending is approved at the levels that you're requesting, which I guess are 253.9 million and 255.2 million respectively, and even if the Board were to approve the cost saving percentages and cost escalators that would get you a 5.19 percent, it would be open in 2008 to come back and say, Well that's not really accurate based on whatever evidence is available?  


DR. PORAY:  If there is material difference in the data that's available at that point in time, we would recalculate the factor.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  


DR. PORAY:  And again, that would be subject to approval by the Board.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  


Now, I would like to talk about a very specific example of what we perceive to be a problem with your calculation, at least in this table.  


In earlier cross of another earlier panel it was confirmed - and this is from the April 24th transcript, at page 45, which I won't pull up -  it was confirmed that pension costs are included in the costs for 2008 but not for 2003.  Okay?  


I can pull the reference up if you want. 


MR. ROGERS:  Could you, please.  Pensions are complicated.  I remember the discussion, but...


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can pull up the ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  Let me get the transcript, please.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  It's line 14 to 16.  I think this is Mr. Carleton, who says:

"The other point I would like to make is that in 2008 we have pension costs of about 6.7 percent of total OM&A, which wasn't in our 2003."


The critical point being there was no pension costs in 2003.  There are in 2008, and the actual amounts are found at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2.


DR. PORAY:  Sorry, what was that reference?


MR. BUONAGURO:  C1, tab 3, schedule 2, appendix A.  Unfortunately the appendix isn't page-numbered, but it is page 2 of the appendix.  I pulled the table up on the screen for you, which shows that for transmission, corporate pension costs for OM&A are $24 million, plus the Inergi annual pension charge to OM&A which is 2 million for 2007 and the same for 2008.


So essentially there is $26 million in pension costs as part of your OM&A?


DR. PORAY:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the transcript reference I mentioned earlier states that there ‑‑ these costs didn't exist in 2003, but that's the point of that.


So if we go back to looking at your calculation, and we look at the residual SD&O OM&A figure of 53.5 million for 2008, that includes $26 million of pension costs, which I would ‑‑ as I understand it, had nothing to do with aging; is that correct?


MR. INNIS:  The OM&A that is listed there under line 1, sustaining, development, operation, would have a portion of pension costs in there for 2007/2008, but not the entire amount that you see on table 2 that you referred to.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  You're saying that the $26 million isn't in the SDO OM&A?


MR. INNIS:  It wouldn't be in the total SD&O.  There are other categories of OM&A, such as the CFS costs that have been discussed.  They would have a portion of pension in there, as well.


So the SD&O doesn't represent the total OM&A.  There are other aspects of OM&A that relate to people costs that would also have attracted some pension costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But at least a portion of the $26 million is in SDO OM&A.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, it would be.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And if I'm not mistaken, I think I have an outstanding undertaking on specifying where they are, but that's... 


The point I'm making is that there are pension costs included in the 2008 SDO OM&A line item which appear within the 255.2 million figure, and the evidence shows that there are no pension costs in the 185.7 million figure for 2003; right?


MR. INNIS:  As a general statement, that's correct, but not to the specific values that you've referred to on table 2.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But it would be appropriate to back those out, because they have nothing to do with the escalation that you're trying to capture here?


DR. PORAY:  I think I have to bring back to a higher level this whole idea of -- what it is that we're proposing here is a relatively simple concept for adjusting revenue requirement components, based on, if you like, high-level costs or sustainment, development and operations.


And we discussed, in the evidence and in some of the responses to the interrogatories, why we included sustainment and development and operations.  And it is trying to capture the fact that work is being done in the company to maintain the transmission system, and pensions are part of the, if you like, the costs incurred by the company to ‑‑ in relation to staff resources and staff requirements to do the work.  It's part and parcel of the business of the company.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, but you're suggesting that the ‑‑ I think this is even more fundamental to the -- there is a fundamental error, I think, in the graph, which is that that's a cost that you have included in terms of developing a 5.19 percent aging factor, when in fact it is -- it was an addition that simply didn't exist in 2003.


So, for example, the trend -- if you're trying to develop the trend, you wouldn't start from 2003 or you would at least have to adjust for the fact that the pension costs were included in 2003.  Would you agree with that?


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  I think in the spirit of what we're trying to develop here, we didn't want to make this complicated by going down into all, you know, the various details and sub-costs, and rather to keep it at the high level, because it made sense to do that.


I think to do what you're suggesting may be inappropriate, because in fact you're sort of cherry-picking one specific area.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So you don't agree that something like pension costs, which arguably have nothing to do with aging and which weren't included in 2003, shouldn't be backed out, for the sake of simplicity?


MR. INNIS:  The adjustment mechanism was meant to be simple and straightforward, and we did not go down the road of isolating specific changes that could have either increased the percentage or decreased the percentage.


So that opens the door to a whole host of adjustments, which would defeat the purpose of trying to keep this at a high level.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, would you agree with me that in order for the Board to accept this methodology, they would have to have some reasonable basis for deciding that it serves as a reasonable replacement for a normal cost of service application in terms of determining what the actual values are going to be?


DR. PORAY:  [Microphone not activated]


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, your mike isn't on.


DR. PORAY:  It's just gone off again.  Okay.


Yes, and we believe that the mechanism that we've proposed is based on reasonable assumptions using information that is readily available and explainable.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would just point out, and I don't want to go through the same analysis, but for the capital side adjustment mechanism, there's a similar point to be made about pension costs.  There are pension costs included in the 2008 test year and there are no pension costs included in the 2003 test year.  But I don't necessarily know if you can agree with that, that generally speaking the same line of questioning and answer would apply to that line, or do you want me to go through it?


DR. PORAY:  That would apply to that, as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


Now, I'm looking at -- sorry, C1, tab 2, schedule 3, which is a summary of the development OM&A portion, and it divides into two things, research and development and standards development.  And it has, for the test year, 2008, 4 million for research and development and 4.1 for standards development.  


And our understanding - and this again was dealt with with an earlier panel, that the standards development related to new NPCC and NERC standards and transmission code changes.  Is that your understanding?  I can refer you to an undertaking.  It's J-5-42 is the explanation.   


DR. PORAY:  Could you just repeat the question, please.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, my understanding is that that $4 million relates to standards and transmission code changes related to the NPCC and NERC requirements.  So $4 million in development OM&A.  


DR. PORAY:  Just let me read through that, would you?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  


DR. PORAY:  Okay.  If I look at pages 2 and 3 of that same exhibit, C1, tab 2, schedule 3, under section 2.2 which deals with research and development, there are a number of things that are mentioned in there, in terms of emerging technologies, improvements and design, maintenance and operation practice, all of those things could, in fact, impact or be associated with managing an infrastructure which is aging.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm actually focussing on the standards portion.  I put the table back up and the research and development is 4 million and -- 4.1 million for standards development.  


My understanding, from the previous testimony, was that that was related to new standards that were imposed on entities like Hydro One by NPCC and NERC.  


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  You can take that subject to check, if you'd like.  I don't think it is controversial.  


DR. PORAY:  Sorry.  Do you want me to -- okay, yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You agree with me?  


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  And that 4.1 million as part of the 8.1 million of the total summary of development OM&A gets included in the calculation of the aging factor; correct?  


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, do you have a specific understanding that the development costs associated with the standards that were imposed by these two entities on Hydro One relate to aging assets specifically?  


DR. PORAY:  I don't have a specific understanding.  However, in terms of generally standards developments, these pertain not only to new assets but also to existing assets.  


And so, again, in the context of trying to keep this reasonably simple and understandable, we left it at the level of including all of those costs because it certainly wasn't easy for me to differentiate what the different costs would be for the different aspects of standard development.  So we left it at that level.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So from what you said, I take it you have no -- or you weren't presented with any specific evidence about the increase or the trending increase in standards development, for example?  


DR. PORAY:  Well, again, this is not my area of expertise.  I think this was already discussed at an earlier panel. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  


DR. PORAY:  All we were trying to do here was to say that the -- in managing an aging infrastructure, there will be certain standard development that will be used in that respect.  So the costs associated with that would be included, but we didn't break it down into separate items.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand the general principle, but what I'm confirming is that whatever evidence they have -- you seem to be saying that whatever evidence they do have about the increase in standards costs for 2009, 2010 they didn't give it to you, if they have any.  I'm not suggesting they had any, but that's not how you approached the problem.  


DR. PORAY:  We didn't use any 2009 and 2010 data.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, projected, I guess forecast data.  


DR. PORAY:  We used what was filed in the evidence.  That was the whole idea behind developing this mechanism, was to use and provide to the Board the data which was filed as part of this evidence.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  I'm trying to skip to a short section before the break.  Okay.  This may seem out of order, but it's short.  


Part of the proposal is, as I understand it, is to have the IESO provide the forecasted charge determinants for 2009, 2010? 


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you confirm for me, would that forecasting be done based on the IESO's forecast of Ontario demand using IESO's forecast models?  


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  That information will be based on the IESO's information.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  It would be done internally by the IESO and then handed over to Hydro One, as opposed 

to -- 


DR. PORAY:  It will be done for all of the transmitters. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?  


DR. PORAY:  For all of the transmitters. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, okay.  So it's not the IESO running Hydro One-supplied models in any way?  


DR. PORAY:  I'm sorry?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  You're not supplying models to the IESO for them to run.  They're doing their own internal independent, I guess you could call it, third-party forecast?  


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Great, thank you.  Perhaps that would be a good time to break.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will break for lunch and return at 1:30.  


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:45 p.m. 



‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 1:33 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Did any matters come up during the break?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Once again, I have taken the liberty of placing before the Board two further undertaking answers.  The first -- and I hope you don't mind me doing that to speed things up.  The first is Exhibit K, tab 2, schedule 8, relating to the contribution for the Preston project.  


The second is Exhibit K, tab 5, schedule 9, which deals with the present value of the Cornerstone project, Ms. Nowina.  I believe you asked for this.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  We will continue to file these as they become available.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  


Mr. Buonaguro, are you ready to proceed?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Thank you.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO (Continued):

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have two topics left.  The first is the rate base adjustment.  


Now, in the original evidence at A, 13, tab 1, you have identified three categories of capital spending that would be used to adjust the rate base and the mechanism.  Sustaining, operations and shared services is one group.  IPSP spending, i.e., development spending on inter-area transfer, local supply adequacy and generation connection, that's the second group.


And non‑IPSP, i.e., development spending on load customer connections and performance enhancement and risk management, is the third group.


Is that a fair summary of the original evidence?


DR. PORAY:  Can you just point me to...


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  A, 13, 1, page 22.  So this is ‑‑ I put page 22 on the screen.  You can see the second and third groups there:  Inter-area transfer capability, local area supply adequacy and generation customer connection is IPSP related.  Non‑IPSP related projects is load customer connection and performance enhancement and risk mitigation, which isn't on this page, but, as I understand from the evidence, their group is sustaining operations and shared services; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Now, it was described somewhat differently in your oral evidence, so I am going to go through what we understand to be the oral evidence that you gave, I guess in your examination-in‑chief, and go through how we understand your evidence to be and how they go into rate base in each category; all right?


So the first category is the IPSP capital projects.  We understand that these are the projects included in the OPA's IPSP which it will be filing with the OEB later this year; correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's our understanding, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Hydro One's proposal is to include in rate base for 2009, subject to the one‑half-year rule, only those capital IPSP transmission projects that are projected to come in service in 2009; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you're not proposing to put into rate base any capital spending on IPSP projects that are projected to come into service after 2009?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And with reference to Exhibit ‑‑


DR. PORAY:  If I could just clarify that?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


DR. PORAY:  In our direct, we also mentioned that there were other supply mix projects, and it's possible that, when the IPSP comes out, there may be some supply mix projects in there which we would ‑‑ subject to the same treatment that we're proposing here, but they would be brought forward for 2009 rate base adjustments.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, let me understand.  You may have supply mix projects for 2009 that you'll be asking for special treatment for?


DR. PORAY:  Do you want to do that?


MR. INNIS:  There are four projects that we have classified as supply mix projects that are in the evidence currently.  There are no further identified right now.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what's the ‑‑ you're asking for treatment for them in 2007, 2008; right?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the clarification is that there is spillover for 2009 and 2010 for those projects?


MR. INNIS:  No.  The clarification was the fact that those supply mix projects themselves could become in service in 2009 or 2010, depending on the completion date.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So I guess what you're telling me is that they would -- if they come into service in 2009, for example, they would be included in this first group or -‑ I'm trying to understand why ‑‑


MR. INNIS:  The supply mix treatment is requesting those four specific projects to be included in rate base in 2007, 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I'm just trying to figure out how it ties into this first category that I'm talking about.  I have identified the first category, which is IPSP capital projects, and I've gone through and you have confirmed how they're going to be treated under the adjustment mechanism. 


Then there is a clarification that somehow these four supply mix projects tie into that.  I don't understand how the treatment relates to these ‑‑ this category of project.  I don't understand.


MR. INNIS:  Oh, to the extent that one of those supply mix projects was identified in the IPSP, that would be the link.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So those particular projects, insofar as they're IPSP projects, would have different treatment because you're applying for treatment in 2007, 2008?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I think I got it.


MR. RUPERT:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro, I don't want to interrupt, but I want to get it, too, before you carry on.


These four projects that you have referred to as supply mix projects, my understanding was that the special treatment you were requesting is to include in rate base, as the money is being spent, i.e., prior to the in‑service date, for those projects, 2007, 2008.


Once you start that process, I'm not sure I understand how either of the facts that it's an IPSP project or the in-service date matter any more.  I'm not sure I follow how the IPSP identifying one of those supply mix projects would change the treatment that you're proposing for the four projects.


MR. INNIS:  It would not change the treatments.  We would declare that project in service when the construction would be completed.


MR. RUPERT:  But in terms of inclusion in the rate base, I thought the special aspect of the four projects was that the money you spend, you wanted to go into rate base as soon as you spent it, i.e., well before it went into service.


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.


MR. RUPERT:  So the in‑service date is not really relevant, then, to the whole issue, is it?


MR. INNIS:  Correct.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understood the clarification to mean that even those these may be IPSP-related projects, they don't actually fit into category 1.  They're actually their own category...


MR. INNIS:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  ...insofar as they may come into service in 2009, 2010; is that right?


MR. INNIS:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I hope I haven't re-confused anybody.


Now, I am referring to Exhibit L2.1, which was introduced, I believe, by the company.  I have actually pulled up -- the projects we're talking about in this, for this first category, is actually listed here as category 4 projects; am I correct?


DR. PORAY:  Sorry, what was your question again?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am just confirming that we're talking about -- in this IPSP capital projects and the treatment of them, we're talking about what are referred to in Exhibit L2.1 as category 4 projects.  These are the projects we're talking about, projects which are included in the OPA's IPSP which will be included in rate base for 2009 only if they come into service in 2009, and that you're not proposing to put into rate base any spending if they don't come into service in 2009.  Their category 4 projects as listed in Exhibit L2.1.  


DR. PORAY:  Those would be IPSP projects, yes.  Yes, those are the IPSP projects. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not sure if your mike is on again.  


DR. PORAY:  It was on.  Okay.  It's on now.  Yes, those are the IPSP projects.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, we understand that the anticipated filing date for capital spending for the 2009 adjustment is June 2008?  So you will be applying for the rate base treatment of these projects in June 2008.  


DR. PORAY:  Well, the actual filing date hasn't really been established.  What we proposed in section 6 of Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1 is a set of implementation steps.  And as part of that set of implementation steps, we would file a capital plan that would be used for the adjustment of the rate base for 2009 revenue requirement.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, what happens if the OEB's final decision on the IPSP capital spending is not available at the time you're applying for treatment of these projects for 2009?  


DR. PORAY:  Then these projects will be treated as pre-IPSP projects, and there are some which we have today and they would be dealt with accordingly.  And again, the information would be submitted for approval as part of the revenue requirement adjustment.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now when you say "pre IPSP", is that the same as how you're going to treat non-IPSP?  


DR. PORAY:  No.  The intent here is that they would have been in the IPSP if the IPSP had been issued, but because it hasn't been issued we are treating them as pre-IPSP.  The non-IPSP are typically what I would call "business as usual" projects for Hydro One, which would not be included in the IPSP.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'm just trying to understand.  Maybe you could explain.  So you don't have the decision.  It's now pre-IPSP.  Can you explain how they will be treated for 2009?  Just a summary.  


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  The intent would be to bring those projects for approval in -- for 2009 rate base adjustments.  So they would be part of the approval process in 2008 for the revenue requirement adjustment.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, would they be treated -- in all other respects, would they be treated as the same way that you're treating the IPSP projects, except for the fact that you have to actually get the Board to approve them?  


DR. PORAY:  To the extent that some of them would require a section 92, then it would be dealt through a section 92.  


If it's a non-section 92, then it would be dealt with as a non-section 92-type project.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess it sounds like this relates to the excerpt from the IPSP Guidelines that, the assumption is the IPSP will fully deal with these projects.  But if for some reason they haven't or they haven't in time for the time period 2009, you're going to have to get the Board to do it in a special proceeding either in a section 92 or as part of the adjustment mechanism proceeding.  Is that right?  


DR. PORAY:  Well, the adjustment mechanism allows for the inclusion of a variety of development projects, some of which are IPSP and some of which are not.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you agreeing with me?  


DR. PORAY:  Can you just restate your question?  Sorry. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So if for some reason the IPSP hasn't done what you thought they would do or they haven't done it in time, you will be treating them exactly the same way, these projects.  It's just that you're going to have to do it in the context of a different proceeding.  It will add something to the adjustment mechanism proceeding for these projects because the IPSP hasn't finished with them yet.  


DR. PORAY:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  


Now, you mentioned the non-IPSP category and you characterize them -- my understanding of the characterization would be generation connections and performance enhancement risk management projects which is going back to the description in the original evidence.  


Now, for this category, we understand that the in-service capital for 2009 and 2010 will be based on the average annual capital spending approved for these areas for 2007 and 2008.  


So you will take the capital spending that you're applying for in 2007, 2008 and whatever -- assuming it is approved, average it out and that's what you get for 2009 and 2010.  That simple.  Correct?  


DR. PORAY:  Can you just excuse me while I search that part of the evidence.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  Our understanding, based on your application, would mean that that would give you a figure of $81 million, based on the filing.  So you can check my understanding based on the math.  


DR. PORAY:  Our original thinking, when we were developing this, was that that would be one way of dealing with the non-IPSP projects, is to look at what was approved for 2007 and 2008 and average that out, and use the same values for 2009 and 2010.  


However, given the discussions that have been going on on the treatment of development capital, we thought that perhaps another way and a simpler way would be to deal with the actual projects that might be coming into service in 2009 without having to average the values that were approved for 2007 and 2008.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That's a new proposition.  That's not the original evidence; right?  


DR. PORAY:  Well, our thinking, in a way, has been evolving and we're trying to -- in promoting this adjustment mechanism and the treatment of capital, we're trying to make it as straightforward as possible, in the sense of the approval process and to make it as transparent as possible.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I take I will taken it in baby steps.  So there is a new proposal from Hydro One on this?  


DR. PORAY:  Well, you could do it the way we originally proposed, or it can be done based on the latest information that you have available at the time when you filed the requirement for revenue adjustment.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do I get to choose?  


DR. PORAY:  Pardon?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do I get to choose?  I'm just trying to figure out -- you're applying for one or the other and the Board will choose based on what?  


DR. PORAY:  We're not applying for approval here at this point in time, in terms of what the Board has to approve at this point in time.  


We've said, in our direct evidence, that in fact the approval for the capital development projects will be done when we file for the 2009 revenue adjustment.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying how non-IPSP development capital associated with generation connections and performance enhancement risk management spending is treated for 2009, 2010 is completely open under the RRAM?  


DR. PORAY:  Given the level of discussion and interest in the treatment of development capital, we thought we would make it as transparent as at all possible.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'm just trying to figure out what the practical implication of this, what I perceive to be a shift in position is, in terms of this hearing.  


So when the Board makes an order with respect to the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism and it's dealing with the treatment of non-IPSP spending under this category, the order is to be determined?  


DR. PORAY:  It would -- the non-IPSP development -- just excuse me for a minute.  Let me go back to my direct.  


Just bear with me.  Okay, here we are.  So in my direct evidence, and if I can quote from that, I said ‑‑


MR. BUONAGURO:  Which page - sorry to interrupt - just so I can see it.


DR. PORAY:  If you're going back to your transcript, okay, we can do that.  Okay, so it's on page 97 of the transcript, volume 5, May 8th, 2007, starting on line 18.


Okay, there I say that:

"The next category of development capital is the non-IPSP-related development capital expenditures, and these may involve either section 92 projects, and these would typically involve line construction over two kilometres of length, or non‑section 92 projects, which would involve station construction‑type projects.  In either case, Hydro One will provide the relevant information concerning capital projects that go into service in 2009, some of which capital expenditures will be examined as part of section 92 proceedings and some of which would be examined as part of the proceeding associated with the approval of the 2009 revenue requirement."


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So this average annual capital spending for 2007 and 2008 as a basis for determining what will go into rate base for 2009, 2010 is not necessarily what's going to happen?


DR. PORAY:  It's not necessarily what ‑‑ we would use the best information available.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So it is open, then?  In terms of what the mechanism looks like, this particular topic is open.  You've suggested something that you might apply for in 2008 going into 2009, but it depends on what information is available at the time?


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a minute.


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  We've indicated that we would be asking the Board in this proceeding to approve the treatment of non‑IPSP-related development capital, as we outlined in our direct evidence.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


DR. PORAY:  So it wouldn't necessarily be using the averaging that we originally thought might be a process that would follow.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So now it's starting to sound to me ‑‑ correct me if I'm wrong.  It's sounding like you want the Board to approve a formula where you average the annual capital spending in 2007, 2008 and use that to determine what goes into rate base for 2009, 2010; but if you apply for something different in 2008 for 2009-2010, you would want the Board to consider that.  Is that a fair interpretation of ‑‑


DR. PORAY:  No.  What we have said in our direct evidence is that we would ask the Board to approve the treatment of non‑IPSP capital on the basis that we've described it in the direct evidence.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's based on an average annual capital spending for 2007, 2008?


DR. PORAY:  No, it would not be.  It would be based on what is contained in the section 92 projects or the non‑section 92 projects.


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, if I can help, I think the company's position has changed since the prefiled evidence on this point; is that right, Dr. Poray?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  I think that is the confusion, which I can understand.  So the present proposal -- more thought has been given to this, which was outlined in the evidence-in‑chief, is that it will be handled in a way different than the averaging that was originally proposed.  Does that help you?  I think I'm correct on that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  You're not asking for the averaging?


MR. ROGERS:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You're asking to have it considered when it comes forward for the finalization at the 2009, 2010 revenue requirement?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  At that point, we don't know what it is it is going to look like in 2008?


DR. PORAY:  Well, what we're saying is this would be ‑‑ part of it might be determined by a section 92 application, and that part which is not ‑‑ or those projects which are not determined by a section 92 application, we would provide the necessary information for the Board to examine and approve accordingly.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So then does that mean that when you apply in 2008 for 2009 rates, for example, it would now be based on actual projects as opposed to a general figure?


DR. PORAY:  It would be based on those projects which would be going into service in 2009.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So now it is specific to ones that will be in service.  So it's actually ‑‑ on this aspect, at least, it is very much the same as what would happen for 2007, 2008?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So really it's part of the adjustment mechanism, but really it's a part that is very much like cost of service for those aspects of it.


DR. PORAY:  Well, we've mentioned in our evidence that development capital is treated somewhat differently.  It's not adjusted by any factors.  It's added into the rate base, given the considerations of what goes into the rate base.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But now you're going to tell us what's going in service in 2009 and you're going to apply for an amount, and they're going to look at the projects, either section 92 or some other way, and it will go in that way?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


MS. GIRVAN:  Madam Chair, could I just interject for a second?  It's becoming a little unclear to me specifically what Hydro One's proposal is.


I mean, we've gone through the initial examination-in‑chief, and then through cross‑examination.  I just find it might be helpful for them to maybe file an undertaking to set out specifically what they're seeking approval from the Board with respect to this particular proposal.  It's not entirely clear to me.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, we haven't finished Mr. Buonaguro's questions yet.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  We have yet to hear from Mr. DeVellis.  Maybe at that point, if you still want to request an undertaking --


MS. GIRVAN:  It's just there have been some revisions to their initial proposal, and I think it would be nice at the end of the day to have some clarity around that specifically in one place, rather than trying to go through the transcript and figure that out.  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  I think your suggestion is a good one, Madam Chair.  I can say that that was the purpose of the evidence-in‑chief, was to try and sort of codify what's being proposed, but obviously there is some confusion.  So let's wait and see how it progresses.  If there is still confusion at the end of the day, we will make that undertaking.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  For my part, I think I understand what you're saying now and I could probably get it from the transcript, but I agree it would be useful to identify what the original proposal is and how it is being replaced in an undertaking.  Maybe I could ask for the undertaking.


MR. ROGERS:  Why don't we wait, as was suggested, until we finish with the cross‑examination?


MS. NOWINA:  I'm just thinking it may develop further, Mr. Buonaguro, and you may want to make it more specific.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, that's fine.  I will have Mr. DeVellis to make a note to ask for an undertaking at the end of his, if it is still a good undertaking to take.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Buonaguro, before you resume -- sorry.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I was just going to say, Madam Chair, I don't have any questions in that area, so if you were thinking that I was going to ‑‑


[Laughter]


MR. ROGERS:  I won't ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Let's take the undertaking now.  Fine.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So can we make ‑‑ have we landed on the fact we're going to get an undertaking?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I will do it.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  K6.2.  And the undertaking, as I understand it, is to file in written form the changes that have been made to the IRM proposal with respect to the prefiled evidence.  


MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps an outline of the whole proposal, including identifying those elements that have changed, what they have changed from and to.  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And for the reporter, that is with respect to the non-IPSP development capital treatment in rate base for 2009, 2010.  


MR. ROGERS:  Well, why don't we make it -- I was going to say the whole thing.  


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Girvan was looking for the whole thing. 


MR. ROGERS:  That's what I thought. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  So K6.2 is an outline of the entire IRM proposal or RRAM proposal.  


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  


MS. GIRVAN:  And specifically identifying what has changed since the original application. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you very much.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K6.2:  TO PROVIDE an outline of the 

entire IRM Proposal or RRAM proposal specifically 

identifying what has changed since the original 

application

MR. RUPERT:  Before you resume, Mr. Buonaguro, I just wanted to clarify the last point and I know this will be in the undertaking.  


But it sounds to me, Dr. Poray, that leaving aside the approval process, whether it is section 92 or some other process, or IPSP, that the entry into rate base of what has been called so far non-IPSP projects for 2009 and 2010, is identical to how IPSP projects will enter into rate base in 2009 and 2010, under the revised proposal.  Is that correct?  There is no distinction in entering into the rate base.  There may be a distinction in the approval process for the two, but not in the manner and timing of their entry into rate base?  


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  


Well, under what I guess we call the old proposal, the third category is the capital spending on the four supply mix projects for which you're proposing to include capital spending and rate base for 2007 and 2008.  I understand in that sense it is not strictly having to do with the RRAM.  But I have a couple of questions on it that may be related.  


The proposal is that for these four supply mix projects, the spending goes into rate base for purposes to determine return on capital as it occurs; correct?  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And for 2007-2008, the actual capital spending itself is all capitalized; correct?  


MR. INNIS:  As it is spent it would be capitalized, correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So for 2009 and 2010, in general, depreciation charges will be determined by applying a depreciation rate of 2.18 percent to rate base, and the reference for that is A13, 4, page 2.  Can you take that subject to check, unless you -- 


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- have it memorized?  Now, for the purposes of determining depreciation charges, I guess for 2009, 2010, will the supply mix capital spending be included in rate base?  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Which means that for these projects, they are being depreciated before they're in service; correct?  


MR. INNIS:  We typically depreciate projects that are included in rate base.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But because these specific projects are not in service, but have been -- you're asking for special treatment for them to be included in rate base before they're in service, they're being depreciated even though they're not in service, which is distinct from most other projects.  


MR. INNIS:  They're treated the same, yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  They're treated the same as everything else in rate base?  


MR. INNIS:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And there's what we understand to be a fourth category of development capital.  There is a fourth category called development capital spending, which is not in the IPSP.  And this was discussed in Board Staff's cross-examination.  


We understand this to be a new project, a new type or category of project that wasn't discussed at least in terms of characterization as a category in the original evidence.  Is that right?  


DR. PORAY:  Sorry, can you refer -- 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  


DR. PORAY:  --can you refer me to a reference?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  You discussed it with Ms. Campbell on page 135.  Well, maybe this -- maybe what we've done is in our heads created a fourth category when, in fact, you were replacing the second category.  Have I exhausted every project that you've had already?  


DR. PORAY:  I think all of the development capital categories are covered.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, okay.  I think I understand now.  We thought you created a fourth category when in fact the second category, which was supposed to be based on average annual spending in 2007 and 2008 has been essentially eliminated and replaced with all of those projects now put into what I thought was a new category.  They've just been treated differently. 


DR. PORAY:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, great.  


Now, for capital spending for sustainment, operations and shared services, the 2009 factor applies to the approved 2008 base; right?  


DR. PORAY:  Sorry?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  The sustainment and operations and shared services capital spending for 2009 is determined by applying the adjustment factor for 2008 Board-approved? 


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And this projected level of spending for 2009 is assumed to all come into service in 2009 and is included in rate base; right?  


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Subject to the half-year rule.  


DR. PORAY:  Oh, just hang on for a second.  


[Witness panel confers]  


DR. PORAY:  I'm sorry, for the sustainment and operation, there is I think a 60/40 split.  Sixty percent of the spending would be included in the rate base and 40 percent would be carried over to the next year.  I think   it's the way Hydro One treats sustainment and operations in a standard manner.  It would be done in exactly the same way. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay. 


DR. PORAY:  And that would be indicated in the submission that we would make.  So in that particular submission, it would identify what goes into rate base or what proportion goes into rate base in 2009.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So -- 


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's not – that 60/40 split isn't specific to the adjustment mechanism, that -- in fact, that brings in line with what you would do normally for sustainment and operations capital spending.  That's how I understood that. 


DR. PORAY:  So what you would do is you would do your adjustment to the sustainment and operations, and then a portion of that adjusted value would go into the rate base in 2009.  The rest would be carried over to go into rate base in 2010.  


DR. PORAY:  I will get my colleague to answer that.  


MR. INNIS:  That split is an approximation of what our typical planning would have.  It's not used exclusively for this revenue adjustment model.  It is something we do on a normal planning basis.  The exact percentages would change; for illustrative purposes, the 60/40 would be something that would be used for this example.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps you could explain why the 60/40.  Why the split?


MR. INNIS:  Sure.  The projects that we have for transmission typically would last longer than one year.  Some less.  Some greater.  So we don't have all of the capital spending in one year all coming to service.  So what we do is these projects are lapping from one year to the next.  So what we try to do is try to estimate when projects would come in service by taking spending in one year and looking at the duration of that spend and then also spending the next year and the duration that that would take.  And on average, 60 percent of the spending in any one year comes into service in that year; that should also include 40 percent of the spending in the previous year would come to service in that subsequent year.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So setting aside the adjustment mechanism -- 


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- on this category of capital spending, you're already making an assumption that if we spend $100 million in this particular category in a particular year, we put 60 percent of it into rate base on the assumption that about 60 percent of it relates to in-service spending, and then 40 percent gets carried over?  Or whatever the split is?  


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  Then the current year would also have a portion of the cap-ex from the previous year coming into service in the current year.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So the difference between what you normally do and what you're suggesting that you do under the adjustment mechanism is that how much gets split is generated instead not by specific projects, but, rather, by the adjustment mechanism?


MR. INNIS:  Can you repeat that question, please?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  For 2007 you came up with a sustainment and operations budget, and I don't know what it is off the top of my head, but let's say it was $200 million, and it was based on specific projects and specific spending, I assume; right?


MR. INNIS:  Mm-hmm.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Then you put approximately 60 percent of that into rate base for 2007 as part of your application, based on this idea that ‑‑


MR. INNIS:  A portion of that would have been -- I couldn't tell you if it was exactly 60, but not 100 percent of the spending for any given year goes into service in that year.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So the difference for the adjustment mechanism is the $100 million isn't determined by particular projects.  It is determined, at least in part, on the escalation under the adjustment factor?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then based on what you normally do, which is split some of that in rate base and some of it you hold over for the next year, you're going to put 60 percent ‑‑ you're going to assume 60 percent in-service?


MR. INNIS:  Under the adjustment model?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. INNIS:  Please keep in mind also, though, that the 60 percent relates to -- let's say the spending in 2009.  In 2009 we would also be putting in service carry-over spending from 2008, which becomes in-service in 2009.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So I just ‑‑ it is important, because I had understood that you were putting all of it into service, but you're telling me that's not true.  You're putting a 60/40 split.  And on top of that, you normally do that with this particular budget?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  And we would adjust for some specific items that we would know about, but as a rule of thumb, that's a planning practice that we have.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  All right.  So a couple of points about what happens when you put something into rate base.


By putting in ‑‑ when you add stuff into rate base for 2009, that spending attracts debt costs, return on equity and capital taxes; right?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And all of that is included in the revenue requirement?


MR. INNIS:  That forms part of revenue requirement.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And it also -- I think we already touched on this, but it includes calculation of depreciation costs on that spending, which is also included in the revenue requirement?


MR. INNIS:  We would also include depreciation on the assets that are in rate base.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think you've partially explained this, but, generally speaking, sustainment projects, or large sustaining projects, I think you explained, take a number of years?


MR. INNIS:  They could go more than 12 months, correct, and typically it would be the development projects that would have a longer life span.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So normally the actual project as a whole doesn't come into service in the year that some of the spending is done, but you have explained to me now that how you treat that normally is a 60/40 or some kind of split?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  For instance, if we started a project in the month of November 2007 and completed it in March 2008, the spending is spread over two years, but the in‑service actually would come in in 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Now, perhaps you can answer this question for me.  This treatment of apportioning some of it for in-service in the year that the money was spent, and then putting some other to the next year, is this a Board‑approved way of treating this?  As I understand it, you haven't been in before the Board since 1999 and I wasn't a lawyer in 1999, so it's a little before my time.


MR. INNIS:  It's a planning assumption that we made that reflects the reality of how we spend our capital, and in our current filing, that's how we have modelled that.  So as part of this proceeding, we would expect the Board to be approving that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I understand it's part of this proceeding you're asking the Board to approve it.  I'm just saying is this how you've normally done it?


MR. INNIS:  Oh, this is how we've done it for many years.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But you haven't been before the Board since ‑‑ I guess you were before the Board in 2005, I don't know.


MR. INNIS:  We were before the Board in 1999.  When I said this is how we've done it for many years, I'm referring to the standard corporate planning practices that we follow on an annual basis.


MR. ROGERS:  So in 1999, this is the way you did it?


MR. INNIS:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it's nothing unusual?  That's what I'm trying to confirm.


MR. INNIS:  No.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


I think this means that other than the supply mix projects and other than this last category of spending we're talking about, you're not asking for additions to rate base in 2009/2010 for projects that aren't in service; is that right?


DR. PORAY:  Could you just repeat the question, please?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  As I understand it, based on I guess reformulation of your position, you are no longer ‑‑ sorry.  There are only two categories of projects where you're asking for the inclusion of spending in rate base before something comes into service, and that is for the four supply mix projects which are dealt with under 2007 and 2008 rates.  And the sustainment ‑‑ sorry, the sustainment and operations and shared services spending which we've just talked about, and even though you're asking for some of it to be included in rate base maybe before it is in service, this is nothing new for this category?


MR. INNIS:  The only category of spending that we're asking to be included in rate base, prior to in-service, are the four supply mix projects.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  


Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. DeVellis.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm just going to move to the front, if that's okay.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, Dr. Poray.  My name is John DeVellis.  I represent the School Energy Coalition.  Actually, before I begin, I sent out a spreadsheet last Friday that I would like to introduce as an exhibit.  I have copies.  I haven't handed them out yet.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Can we get an exhibit number, Ms. Campbell?


MS. CAMPBELL:  That will be L6.2.


EXHIBIT NO. L6.2:  SPREADSHEET PRODUCED BY MR. 

DeVELLIS.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. DeVELLIS:  It's on an area that's already been touched on, but I thought it would be useful just to illustrate some of the issues that have people have raised and I will get to it in a moment.


But my first question, Dr. Poray, I think you have already answered this and I apologize if you have, but I just want to be clear.  In terms of your OM&A adjustment factor for 2009, what you're proposing is to adjust the adjustment factor on the basis of the differences between your as-filed SDO OM&A and whatever the Board approves for 2007 and 2008; is that right?


DR. PORAY:  The adjustment factor would be calculated ‑‑ if nothing changes in 2008 when we apply for this, we would calculate it on the basis that it is presented here, using the values that are approved by the Board.  So if the Board were to approve the values that are submitted in this evidence, that factor would have been calculated as 5.19 percent.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I guess my question is, if your actual numbers for 2007 and 2008 change, you're proposing to change your adjustment factor at that point, or is it only based on the Board-approved numbers?


DR. PORAY:  If there was significant change in the escalation factors or anything like that, then we could bring forward a calculation based on the latest information that we have.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  If there's change in your actual spending levels in 2007 and 2008, would that factor into -- 


DR. PORAY:  It could factor into it, yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  I would just like to get your thoughts on an area that was discussed with the OM&A panels, and that is that they were asked why it was that spending didn't ramp up in the historic periods and why there is such a step-up in spending in the test years as compared to the historic periods.  


The answer they gave is that while that -- Hydro One knew that assets were aging, it didn't have the requisite information telling it that assets were failing at a higher rate and there was a reference to an interrogatory response to Board Staff, J1, schedule 22.  You don't have to turn it up.  But basically the gist of that was that it knew its assets were aging but it didn't have until I guess 2006, enough information with respect to the failure rate of those assets to I guess inform the company that it needed to ramp up spending.  


It seems to me that that is inconsistent with what you're saying in your evidence with respect to the, it's the RRAM, and that is that you're looking at asset aging and you're telling the Board that because assets are aging, that you know that spending is going to be -- have to be incurred above inflation into 2007 and 2008 and then 2009 and 2010 as well.  


Can you comment on that?  


DR. PORAY:  The proposal which we've put forward for an adjustment mechanism recognizes the fact that our assets are aging and that there will be work going on beyond the test years that are filed in this particular evidence, and we were trying to reflect that in the development of the asset aging factor.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  I guess what struck me, though, is the previous panels, what they're saying is in the past, asset aging alone wasn't enough.  That they needed something more, some evidence of asset failure rates.  Not just asset aging. 


Now what you're saying is, well, We know assets are aging, therefore we're going to have to increase spending by a particular amount.  


DR. PORAY:  No.  What I'm saying is that as a result of the aging of our assets, the work that has to be done to maintain the reliability of the transmission system is ongoing and will require expenditures on a going-forward basis.  


Now, we have identified what we need in 2007 and 2008, and on the basis of the information that we have filed in front of the Board, we've developed an asset aging factor that would then take us into 2009 and 2010.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  I know you've already been asked about the -- how you've calculated the OM&A adjustment factor, but I just have a couple of more questions.  


And if you can turn up Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2, page 4.  And I think Mr. Rupert asked you about this the other day, and what you said was that the 53.5 million that's under 2008 in line 6, is cumulative in the sense that line 5 numbers are cumulative.  Is that right?  


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But the 53 -- the residual in each year is actually derived from two numbers.  The first is the amount in line 1, which is the actual OM&A spending for that particular year.  


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  


DR. PORAY:  The cumulative number is the number in line 5, which starts with 185.7 in 2003 and then it's escalated and -- through inflation and productivity changes to create 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008.  So these are cumulative numbers.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  So line 5 is cumulative.  But line 6 is arrived by taking line 1 minus line 5.  


DR. PORAY:  Lines -- that's correct, yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Line 1 is not cumulative.  


DR. PORAY:  I'm sorry?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Line 1 is not cumulative, that is simply changes in spending year over year. 


DR. PORAY:  Those are particular partly historic and part forecast numbers. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry, that wasn't my question.  My question is, that that's not a cumulative number, in 2003 185.7; in 2004 you have 208.4.   


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And in terms of developing -- I think you've already gone through this, but in terms of developing your asset aging factor you called it a compound annual average percentage change.  But what you have really done is taken the difference between your 2008 forecast and the 2008, I guess, inflation adjusted forecast.  


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  And you have come up with 53.5 million as a residual for that year.  


DR. PORAY:  Correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, am I correct, though, that the only -- in terms of looking at the adjustment factor for 2009, the only variable in your equation is your level of spending, of actual spending in 2008.  


DR. PORAY:  Well, it's both that and the 2001 -- sorry, the amount in the line 5.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  But when we come to 2008, the line 5 amount will be fixed.  The only variable will be whatever is in line 1 for 2008, 55.2. 


DR. PORAY:  To the extent that the other components, the cost savings and the composite cost escalators don't change, yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now if you could turn to Exhibit L6.2. 


DR. PORAY:  I'm sorry, which one?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Exhibit L6.2, the spreadsheet I just introduced.  


DR. PORAY:  Okay. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  I sent this to your counsel and others last Friday.  I hope you've had a chance to look at it before today. 


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I have.


MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  And you will see, in -- what I've done is just taken various levels of assumed SDO spending for 2008 and calculated what the resulting asset aging factor would be.  


So the first column is the as-filed amount, 255.2 million.  And you see the resulting asset aging factor is the bolded number, which is 5.1937 percent.  


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Have I done that correctly?  That's the same amount that you've...


DR. PORAY:  Based on what you have provided here, it is reasonable, yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So we see that if there's a change in your spending for 2008, if instead of 255.2 you spend 250 million, then the asset aging factor is 4.73 percent.  


DR. PORAY:  Based on what -- how you calculated it here, yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Then there is various other numbers, 240 million, it is 3.82 percent, for example. 


DR. PORAY:  Right.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, when I first read the evidence I thought that the asset aging factor was supposed to be indicative of a trend in spending as a result of asset aging, but we see here that it's entirely dependent on how much you spend in 2008.  


DR. PORAY:  To the extent that, as I said, the other components didn't change, the cost savings and the cost escalators, that's true.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  And so what you're really doing is taking your step-up in spending for the test years and extending them into 2009, 2010.  


DR. PORAY:  Based on the information that we have, using the values that were provided in table 2 of that -- of Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2, that is what we've calculated.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, wouldn't -- an alternative way to do it is take an average of the residual for each year. 


DR. PORAY:  One could do that. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  And if you applied that to your formula -- I apologize, I didn't include this in my exhibit, but if you took the average of 25.2 and 25.1 and 38.6 and so on, and you use what in your formula instead of 53.5, I get an asset aging factor of 3.98 percent instead of 5.19 percent.  Will you accept that, subject to check?


DR. PORAY:  Subject to check.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And if the idea is to try and get a compound average annual residual, isn't that a preferable way to do it?


DR. PORAY:  Well, the compound annual residual is the compounded average over the five-year period, starting off from the 2003 data.


One could have used just a simple averaging process, as well.  It could yield another number, and I'm not sure how you obtained your number, but subject to check, it's a number.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I will tell you what I did is I took an average of row 6, which I believe is 40 billion, and plugged that into your formula instead of 53.5.  Your formula is at page 3 at footnote 5.


DR. PORAY:  Okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's how I came up with 3.98 percent.  You can check my math.


Now, I want to ask you about your ‑‑ I'm changing topics now -- your productivity factor.  You discuss it at Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, page 16.


You have a table, table 1 on that page.  Do you have the exhibit?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I do have it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You have various savings of percentage total cost, and then the only explanation I could see for the 1 percent is beginning at line 19, and you say:

"It may be possible to envisage an additional increment of cost savings being added to the current trend value, but it is expected that an upper limit of 1 percent in cost savings could be achievable during 2009 and 2010 period."


So could you help us understand where the 1 percent came from?


DR. PORAY:  The 1 percent was an estimate by Hydro One, in terms of the potential for upper limit of savings that could be achieved, based on what we had provided in table 1 and based on the expectations that -- going forward, what might be done.


Also, the 1 percent value is consistent with what the Board has used for the second generation IRM, and we tried, as well, to introduce some level of consistency between what's already in place as an adjustment mechanism for the distribution sector and what we are proposing for the transmission adjustment mechanism.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So am I right, though, that the only evidence that you filed, with respect to the 1 percent, is on this page here?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And now I'm sorry to do this, but if you would just flip back to table 2, Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2.


DR. PORAY:  Sorry, can you just repeat that?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2, page 4.  If you could hold open the exhibit you have, if you can, and we'll see that the productivity or cost savings were higher in the historical period than you're projecting in the test years and in 2009 and 2010.


DR. PORAY:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And now, the way your formula works on table 2, am I right that the higher the productivity savings were in the historic period, then the lower your line 5 will be, which is the SDO adjusted for productivity and inflation?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Which means that the ultimate number that you've used, the 53.5 million, will be actually higher as a result of higher productivity in the past.


DR. PORAY:  If that was going forward, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, that's how you've calculated it, right?  Insofar as the line 5 -- each entry on line 5 feeds into the next entry, then the higher productivity in the past, then the lower that number ‑‑ the ultimate number, the 201.7, will be.  Which means that the residual for 2008, the 53.5, is higher?


DR. PORAY:  Because it is based on the productivity values for each year.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  So the asset adjustment factor for 2009, 2010 is actually higher as a result of higher productivity levels in the past, according to your formula.


DR. PORAY:  Well, those higher productivity numbers reflect what was achieved in those years and the lower productivity numbers in the later years indicate what was achieved in those years.


So what we tried to do here, in stripping out inflation and productivity, was to use the actual numbers.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  You mentioned the Fortis BC decision, and I have a copy of that.  I'm not sure if a copy has been entered into evidence, but...


DR. PORAY:  Sorry, which decision was that?


MR. DeVELLIS:  The Fortis BC decision, which was mentioned in your evidence and referred to earlier.


DR. PORAY:  I have a copy of that.


MS. NOWINA:  Is it in the evidence?


DR. PORAY:  No, it's not in the evidence.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I...


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a VECC book of exhibits for panel 4 generally, and it includes the ‑‑ I think it includes the part of the Fortis BC case that Mr. DeVellis is going to use.  I didn't refer to it, as it turns out, because of previous cross, but it will put it on the record if I put my book in now rather than later.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's do it, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.


MR. THIESSEN:  Call that Exhibit L6.3.


EXHIBIT NO. L6.3:  DOCUMENT BRIEF OF MR. BUONAGURO.

MR. ROGERS:  This is the decision itself?  L6.3 is the decision?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, appendix B is the --


MR. ROGERS:  It's not the whole document brief, is it?  I mean, that's what I'm trying to figure out.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, no.  L6.3 is the whole document.


MR. ROGERS:  No, no.


MR. BUONAGURO:  They are documents I have provided already to the panel.


MR. ROGERS:  I've got the exhibit.  I just need to know, what we're putting in is just the letter of May 23rd, 2006 from the British Columbia Utilities Commission with the attached decision?


MS. NOWINA:  We will put it all in, all of Mr. Buonaguro's document, so we have it.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I'm not too sure what is in it.  What else is in the document brief that you're submitting here?


 MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, this is an exhibit that you were going to file later for this panel?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  And this panel has already seen the documents in it?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I was going to introduce it for this panel on this topic, but with respect to the Fortis decision, the parts I wanted to cover have already been covered.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. ROGERS:  I have no quarrel with this.  Just one question I have, though.  The last page is a table showing ten-year government bond yield forecasts.  Oh, I see there is a footnote that explains where they come from.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.  I have no objection, then.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I apologize, Madam Chair.  The Fortis decision was in the e‑mail that I had distributed last week, but I understood from Mr. Buonaguro that he was going to introduce it and that's why I didn't bring my copy.


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a minute, but it seems that this exhibit has got more than ‑‑ it's got the FERC stuff in it, as well.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  That's the discussion we were having, but that's not what we're going to be referring to right now.


DR. PORAY:  Okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That was a long preamble but I actually only have two short questions on it.  


The first question is on appendix B at page 24.  Appendix B is what they call performance-based regulation mechanism for Fortis BC, and -- actually, if you start at page 23 under paragraph 2.3.1, you see the proposed formula for O&M is cost per customer times BCCPI, times customer growth, times PIF, which is the productivity implementation factor; do you see that there? 


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I see that.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you look at the cost escalator, is CPI, which I guess is similar to what you're proposing.  Then on the next page, under paragraph 2.3.3, the growth escalator is forecast average annual customer growth is proposed as a growth escalator.  Each year's forecast will be updated with the most recent actual customer count.  


So to the extent that it is used in their formula, that is an exogenous factor, would you agree with me?   


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I agree. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  It's not based on their own spending levels?  


DR. PORAY:  Well, it's a forecast of the expected growth in customer -- in number of customers that they will have to serve in the future year.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  And then the next row is the productivity improvement factor.  You see they have a range of between 1 and 3 percent for Fortis BC.  


Do you know how -- sorry.  The column over says: 

"The parties agree to productivity improvements of 2 percent in 2007, 2 percent in 2008 and 3 percent in 2009."  


Do you know how those productivity factors were derived?  


DR. PORAY:  Just let me look at -- I've downloaded some information from the Fortis BC website and it is my understanding that those were negotiated values.  Just let me check.  


No, I can't find that information.  But basically my understanding is that they were negotiated as part of the negotiated settlement agreement, to which appendix B was a part.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But it's my understanding that productivity factor that generally derive by looking at sort of benchmark indicators of what level of productivity should be achieved and not company-specific information.  


DR. PORAY:  In most PBR mechanisms, yes.  However, in this particular case, and insofar as Hydro One is concerned, we're dealing specifically with just Hydro One.  We're not considering the other transmitters.  


So that is why the company filed information that is specific to Hydro One.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I guess the point is, the point of using sort of a benchmark number is that companies that do better than the benchmark are rewarded and those that do worse are penalized.  That's why you don't look at company specific information.  You look at a benchmark productivity factor.  


DR. PORAY:  Indeed, you do that when you're applying a performance based regulation or a incentive rate regulation to a number of entities.  


In this particular case, this is a single application for Hydro One for an adjustment mechanism.  It does not involve the other transmitters.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Mr. MacIntosh.  


MR. MACINTOSH:  My questions have been asked, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's take a 20-minute break and I believe -- oh, let's do -- Mr. Rogers, why don't we do re-examination now, if you wish to.  We will finish with the panel before the break.  


MR. ROGERS: I may have none.  No.  I think I have none.  Thank you very much.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Rupert has a couple of questions.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. RUPERT:  Just two.  The first one is just to clarify one last element of the rate base issues that you were going through with Mr. Buonaguro, so I understand that.  


It happened to be on the very last discussion, I think, around the 60 percent-40 percent split.  


If you go to your example, which is in Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 4, which is an illustration of how the mechanism might work and what it would result in for revenue requirements for 2009 and 2010 with certain assumptions.  


Page 2 of that illustration shows the rate base, the new asset base, and it just has half of the new additions, and those new additions, if you work your way back up through the example, it doesn't have any 60/40.  


I just wanted to check whether this example was not indicative of how it actually worked or whether the 60/40 would apply.  I just wasn't sure whether I understood how this example fit with your answer to Mr. Buonaguro.  


DR. PORAY:  Okay.  This being a relatively simple, illustrative example, what we did, if you go to the top of that page, line 1, you will see the calculation of the new net capital.  This is the sustainment and operations capital.  That total came to $391 million.  


MR. RUPERT:  Right.  


DR. PORAY:  And what we did is we -- in this particular example we included all of that.  We didn't do the 60/40.  We included all of that and it was split, then, in accordance with the usual -- the normal accounting practices for adding new facilities into the rate base on sort of mid-year range.  


MR. RUPERT:  That's what I thought.  So 60/40 has  nothing to do with this exhibit?  


DR. PORAY:  No, it didn’t factor in there. 


MR. RUPERT:  The last one I've got, and I hesitate to go back to this chart again, but let me do it very quick.  Go back to Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 3, page 4.  This is the chart -- table 2 on page 4 of schedule 3.  This is the capital chart equivalent to the OM&A chart that was discussed earlier.  


Just to make the point and make sure I understand the issue, you see the top row number 1, which is your sustaining and operations capital for the six years involved.  


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  


MR. RUPERT:  My understanding of the way in which ultimately we work down to the bottom-right corner is that if I looked at the years 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 and I replaced those actual numbers or forecast numbers with anything I wanted - 300 million, a billion, zero - that it wouldn't change the bottom right corner of the chart.  We would still get a compound annual average percentage change of .27 percent.  So all I would keep constant would be the 2003 figure of 199.2, and the actual or test year number for 2008 of 316 million.  And everything in between there, I could put any numbers I wanted and it wouldn't change the end result.  I just wanted to confirm that that's what I should take from the calculation.  


DR. PORAY:  This particular calculation, yes.  That's how to read that, yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I wasn't going to ask a question, but I think I need to follow up on that.  So, yes, that is how I assumed it was calculated as well.  And the other table, the one that results in 5.19, when you say "this particular calculation, that's how it works", is this not the methodology that you're suggesting?


DR. PORAY:  Well, no, we're proposing this methodology, but there could be other ways of calculating.  You could do a simple average, or there was another methodology which was proposed by Mr. DeVellis.  But what we're proposing is that this is an appropriate way to do it.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  So the methodology that you're proposing, that you wish us to make a decision on, is this methodology that has those characteristics; correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.


Mr. Rogers, still no re‑examination?


MR. ROGERS:  No, that's fine.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  We will break now for 20 minutes and resume at 3:15 and we will have the next issue, then.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:18 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rogers, do you want to introduce this topic with the panel? 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  There is two things I would like to do if I could.  


PROCEDURAL MATTERS: 


MR. ROGERS:  The first is one housekeeping matter.  This morning I gave to the reporter and, as I advised the Board, a list of transcript corrections.  I should make it clear one of the so-called corrections was a "subject to check" revision and it will be so indicated in the transcript but I thought I should just point it out to everybody.  Ms. McKellar checked on the salary range for a band 7 manager and gave an estimate, and she has checked and the values are a little different.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine. 
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MR. ROGERS:  Now, the next -- it's the same panel, but a different topic.  And this is what we have called block B.  It is issue 3.4, the supply mix capital being placed into rate base concept.  We've touched on it briefly in the last cross-examinations, but this has to do with the supply mix projects coming into rate base before they are formally in service.  I have no direct examination.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Then we will begin with Ms. Campbell.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL:


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  All right.  The first thing that I would like to start with is I would like to, in this section make sure I start off by understanding what it is exactly that Hydro One is looking for when I look at the section of your evidence called "Regulatory Treatment of Supply Mix Capital Projects," and this is Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 4.  It's page 1 to 19.  And in my binder at least, every single sheet is a blue sheet, which means there has been some updating.  


Now, to start off with, when I was reading this section, I thought the essence of what Hydro One was seeking was to be held harmless on any investment made to support supply mix requirements.  Is that accurate?  


MR. INNIS:  For the four specific projects -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Sir, your mike isn't on.  


MR. INNIS:  For the four specific projects that we're listing in this evidence, they're the ones that we're asking to be held harmless, by which we mean to be able to earn a rate of return on those projects as the funds are spent.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And you mentioned the four projects, and before we go any further, I might as well just list where they are.  We can discuss them, or not, in detail later on.  But the four are contained on pages 7 and 8.  And they are simply:  transmission reinforcements for Bruce and Wind Generation Incorporation; the Hydro One-Hydro Quebec MVA -- 1250 MVA interconnection; the static VAR compensators in southwestern Ontario; and the Niagara reinforcement project.  So whenever you refer to the four supply mix projects, that's what you're referring to?  


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Now I understood that the way that you wished this to work, what you were seeking this Board to do was to permit you to do three separate things in order so you might be held harmless.  


You wanted the Board to permit Hydro One to add the expenditures for those four supply mix-driven transmission capital projects to rate base as they were incurred.  Is that correct?  


MR. INNIS:  As the costs were incurred, correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  As the costs were incurred, okay.  And that rate base would be used to adjust the revenue requirements and rates using the adjustment mechanism on an annual basis.  


MR. INNIS:  It would be used to establish revenue requirement for 2007 and 2008.  And then on a going-forward basis, should the adjustment mechanism be approved, those costs would be in rate base, also.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  Now, we discussed that it affects the four specifically identified supply mix projects.  You're not asking that the IPSP projects -- I'm sorry, you're asking that all IPSP projects go into rate base also?  Or just the four supply mix?  


MR. INNIS:  Just the four supply mix projects for this special treatment.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Just that.  All right.  


And you also, in addition to adding to rate base, you are also, if I understand you correctly, requesting that the costs of these investments be included in the adjustment mechanism that we just went through rather thoroughly.  Am I correct in my understanding of that?  


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  These costs would form part of the rate base that would be, then, incorporated into the adjustment mechanism.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  And I understood, from your evidence, that the reason that was given -- and I'm taking this, I'm reading this from Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, page 1 -- it's a single sentence: 

"Because the level of investment required has yet to be determined, these costs are included in the proposed mechanism as an additional cost pass-through."


Again, just to assist you, it's a single sentence that is taken from Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, page 1, line 30 to the top of the next page. 


MR. INNIS:  Just give me a moment.  I would like to read that, please.  Those costs would be recovered through rates.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  It's just, using that sentence I have a question for you on that sentence.  The sentence says: 

"Because the level of investment... has yet to be determined, these costs are included in the propose the mechanism as an additional cost pass-through."


My question was:  What does "additional cost pass-through" mean?  


MR. INNIS:  I believe that the scope of this section is greater than what we're talking about with respect to these specific supply mix projects.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  All right.  So my understanding that it be added to the adjustment mechanism is correct, though?  


MR. INNIS:  The four specific supply mix projects, yes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  The four specific projects, I apologize. 


MR. INNIS:  Would be part of the rate base, which would also be part of the revenue adjustment mechanism.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, the next thing that you asked was the -- the third thing was a change in the capital structure.  And the change in the capital structure is, you want the capital structure to be changed to 56 percent debt, 4 percent preference equity, 40 percent common equity, and an increase to ROE of 10.5 percent.  


MR. INNIS:  That’s consistent with our evidence, yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  And I understand, again from your evidence - and this is taken from the prefiled evidence - that it is primarily to support an unprecedented level of future infrastructure investment.  


MR. INNIS:  That would be one of the reasons, correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  And this increased ROE would specifically apply to these four supply mix projects?  


MR. INNIS:  I don't think the ROE would apply to those specific projects.  Can you please clarify the question? 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Sorry.  That was ill-framed.  The end result is that in addition to adding to rate base, the 10.5 percent is in there also, an increased ROE which would affect rate base also.  


MR. INNIS:  There's two separate initiatives here.  One of the initiatives is to receive approval to include these four specific projects in rate base and be allowed to earn a return on those.  And separate from that discussion would be the discussion surrounding the appropriate capital structure and establishment of the appropriate ROE.  


I see those as being two distinct issues.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  And the reason that I am asking you that is because, in support of this, you rely upon the FERC cases which we're going to discuss a little bit later.  And the FERC cases discuss an increased ROE and I was wondering whether the increased ROE sections of the FERC cases was something that Hydro One was relying upon in support of the addition of the supply mix projects into rate base.


MR. INNIS:  No, we're not.  The FERC cases related to ROE incentives, the ROE that we are asking for has been established with consideration of supply mix capital being in rate base already.  There is no ROE adder associated with the treatment of supply mix projects.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So the only thing you're looking for with regard to adding these four projects to rate base is the ability to take the collector costs for these investments before they're in service and collect pre-construction costs; are those the incentives that you're seeking to support with the FERC cases?


MR. INNIS:  No.  The incentives that we're seeking in this particular case is to be able to earn our weighted average cost of capital on those four specific projects as the funds are spent.


The FERC cases that are cited provide a variety of different incentives that are in place in the US, and in looking at those cases we use that to learn the types of incentives that are in place, but we do not mirror those that are in place in the FERC cases.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So explain to me what you're relying upon the FERC cases for.  What you're saying to me is the majority of these incentives that are contained in the FERC cases are not incentives that you are seeking from this Board.  Am I correct?


MR. INNIS:  There is a menu of incentives that would be in the FERC cases.  Specifically, if we had to say what FERC incentive is reflected in our proposal, it would be the incentive related to including construction work in progress in rate base as funds are spent, as opposed to the traditional method, which would be when the project is declared fully in service.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MR. INNIS:  And can I add to that, as well?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Certainly.


MR. INNIS:  One other incentive that we have, the parallel to what we reviewed in the FERC cases is also the issue of abandonment, and that is to be held harmless for instances where we are forced, by matters beyond our control and decisions outside of our influence, to abandon a project prior to it being fully completed and declared in-service.


There are examples of that within the FERC incentives as well, and we would like to apply that for the circumstances that we have in Ontario.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So abandonment and being paid as the funds are expended on capital expenditures, on those four supply mix?


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


Moving to the text itself, and we will come to the FERC cases shortly.  I just want to go through some of the principles in the FERC cases.


On page 13 and 14 of D1, tab 1, schedule 4, there is a section at the bottom that starts at line 23, which is Ontario generation supply precedents, and it goes over onto page 14 and it deals with Bruce A units 1 and 2 refurbishment and restart, and wind power and renewable generation.  These are some Ontario precedents that you have marshalled in support of your request for those two incentives we were just discussing.


I just have a handful of questions on the use that you wish the Board to make of these, and that is simply that what is cited is the take-or-pay-based commitments that are received before a company builds a new facility.


I take it what you're trying to do is analogize what you're asking for with the take-or-pay-commitment contracts; is that correct?


MR. INNIS:  We are using that as an example of instances where other entities would receive a guarantee of assurance of recovery of costs that they have incurred.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  And it's my understanding that it's the commitment is made in the contract on the take-or-pay basis, right?  But that they don't receive the money until the entity is actually in service.


MR. INNIS:  I'm not familiar with the details of how their contracts are structured, so I can't comment specifically when they would receive their funds.  But there would be some assurance of recovery of costs that they would have incurred, provided they meet certain criteria or ability to generate, for example.


MS. CAMPBELL:  But what you're asking for here is not an assurance of costs.  You want to know that you will get those cost and be able to put them in rate base before it goes into service; isn't that correct?


MR. INNIS:  We're asking for these costs to be put in rate base prior to in‑service, that's correct.  And the example that we cite for the other Ontario precedents, they're not exactly the same circumstances that were here.  I use the word "analogize".  I think that's consistent with what we're trying to do here is, in these other entities, they receive assurance of an income stream provided that they meet certain objectives of construction.


What we are seeking is similar assurance that we can receive funds when we construct our assets, as well.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And just to complete the record, so to speak, there is a Staff‑related interrogatory on that issue, and it is Exhibit J‑1-101.


Lines 33 to 37 say:

"The portion of Hydro One's rationale that this supports is related to the take or pay contract associated with these 'supply mix' generation projects.  Hydro One's view is that provided prudent project and cost management has occurred, just like these specific generation projects, cost recovery should be guaranteed once our 'supply mix' projects are completed." 


"Cost recovery should be guaranteed once our supply mix projects are completed" suggests to me that that is the essential difference between the take-and-pay commitments and what you're seeking.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell, can you give us a reference for that again?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry, J‑1-101.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. INNIS:  Our concern that we're trying to address through the treatment of the supply mix projects is the concern that these projects may never be completed, and we are incurring significant outlays of costs prior to going in-service.  This is a risky venture that we're taking and we're subject to factors beyond our control.


One of the examples that we have is the current Niagara project, where it's uncertain as to when we will be able to complete that project and we have incurred approximately $100 million worth of costs associated with that.  


So our situation is different than what would be experienced by the guarantees from the generation side, but the concern is similar, in that we have an outlay of funds that we have no assurance of recovery, typically until they're in service.


However, there are a number of factors that could influence the completion of that project beyond our control.  And although we will do our best to bring this in service at the appropriate time and on budget, we can be frustrated in our plans to complete that and have a large expenditure on our books that we have funded and have no ability to earn a return on.  That's our concern.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And that's a specific concern you said with regard to Niagara?


MR. INNIS:  The example I used was for Niagara.


There is also concern that we would have -- with respect to, for instance, the Bruce project, right now we are certainly undertaking our obligations to construct that line.  However, if the generation doesn't materialize through wind power as expected, or there is some change in government direction with respect to the generation mix, meanwhile we have spent hundreds of millions of dollars on a line that is no longer needed, perhaps.  We are concerned about that and we would want to be able to earn a return on those funds and be held financially harmless.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I think I would like to turn to the FERC cases now, because that seems to be what you're relying on most heavily.  


Am I correct that there is no Canadian jurisdiction that you are aware of that has permitted what you're seeking this Board to approve?  


MR. INNIS:  I'm not aware of an example in Canada that has asked for the same treatment that we are asking for.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And what you have cited in your prefiled evidence are four specific cases from FERC, including a final rule, which is order number 679 and there was a rehearing on that.  But I'm correct; those are the precedents on which you are relying?  


MR. INNIS:  FERC was very helpful as a source of information to help our thinking, this process.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  And I understood, from Mr. Toneguzzo -- or Mr. Toneguzzo advised Mr. Thiessen that he would be filing the first version of order, the final rule.  It was cited in your materials and I understood you were bringing copies of that today.  


MR. ROGERS:  I think we do have them, but I don't have them with me.  They're downstairs.  I will send someone for them.  


MS. NOWINA:  I see someone going.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  We, in fact, have copies of the final order on rehearing, and the three cases that were, in fact, reheard.  


I had understood that Hydro One would have the first order here.  So I apologize for the delay.  


Circulated by Staff, I believe in February, February 19th, 2007, were copies via e-mail of what I've already referred to as the FERC Final Rule, order number 679.  And there was a rehearing and that was issued December 22nd, 2006.  Again, that was circulated February 19th, 2007.  


Similarly, there was a rehearing of the American Electric Power Service Corporation case which is also in the prefiled evidence.  That was issued January 19th, 2007.   


MS. NOWINA:  Where do we find these in the record, Ms. Campbell? 


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm about to hand them up to you.  They're not on the record.  They were not filed by my friends.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  There is also what is called the Duquesne Light Company case cited by my friends.  There was a rehearing on that also, issued February 6th, 2007.  For the court reporter, Duquesne is D-u-q-u-e-s-n-e.  


My friends also cited the Allegheny Energy case.  They did make reference to the fact that it had been reheard and we are filing the order on rehearing issued January 19th, 2007.  And we also have included in our binders the original cases in Allegheny and American Electric Power Service Corporation, both of which bear the same date as the original final order, that is July 20th, 2006.  


These have been placed into binders to be handed to the Panel.  Unfortunately they're not tabbed.  I apologize for that.  I don't think we anticipated having to hand them up quite this early.  We anticipated being able to tab them.  I'm certain because there are not many we can find our way through them without trouble.


MS. NOWINA:  Are you going to assign the whole binder number an exhibit number, Ms. Campbell?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I think that might be the appropriate way to do that.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  


MR. INNIS:  Ms. Campbell, can I confirm this is the same set of information that you set out on, I have a request here, February 19th?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  


MR. INNIS:  Okay.  So I have a set here. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  You should have a set, yes.  They were circulated to everyone.  


MS. NOWINA:  Exhibit number?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  It would be L6.4.  


EXHIBIT NO. L6.4:  BOARD STAFF BOOK OF FERC CASES 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, as I indicated, the prefiled evidence that was filed on behalf of Hydro One contains a series of the FERC cases.  


I assume that Hydro One is aware of the rehearing of the various cases that were cited?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  We're aware that there was a rehearing. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  And the reason I ask that is only one of the cases, one of the summaries contained in the updated evidence indicates there was a rehearing, which is the Allegheny case I believe you updated.  The rest didn't, and the rehearing on the final order was not included.  


I am assuming that what happened was you were aware of the orders and the rehearings, and decided not -- that updating was not necessary as a result?  


MR. INNIS:  We were aware that there was a rehearing.  In reading through the results of the rehearing, we determined, based on our review, that it did not substantively change any of the incentives or any of the basis of our recommendations in our case.  So from our perspective, the rehearing had no bearing on what we were asking.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  


If the boxes contain the first final order, shall we say, the final order before rehearing, I would appreciate having a copy, because there is something in there that I would like to refer to.  I think there might have been a wee bit of a mix-up on that.  Rather than going to the original order of July 20th, 2006 I will simply move to the ones that we actually have access to so we can move -- oh, we do.  


Hydro One has just provided copies of the original order.  


MS. NOWINA:  You want that marked as an exhibit, Ms. Campbell?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Could you please and we will call that L6.5.  

EXHIBIT NO. L6.5:  FINAL Order No. 679  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thanks.  That's what I will call the original final order, number 679. 


This is now getting terrifically confusing.  This is on Allegheny, I apologize.  I am just going to move right through to what we've got.  So I apologize for the confusion and let's just go to the FERC cases.  There are a couple of things I would like to discuss with you, then we can bring this week to an end.  


Okay.  The first thing that I wanted to point out, there were a couple of things that struck me.  First of all, there are, from what I can understand - and you will correct me if I'm wrong - there are only four decided cases on what I will call the incentives for investment in transmission.  You agree with me?  


MR. INNIS:  We cite a number of cases.  Whether there is only four, we didn't do an exhaustive search of everything, so I can't say there is only four.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  It's my understanding there are only four.  So if you find there is another one, please let us know.  


There was reference in your materials to an Edison case.  That one is not before us and I simply didn't find the time to pull it, but the key cases on the new incentive rule, I understand, are the four that we are going to be discussing quite briefly, I hope.


My understanding is each of the cases deals with a single project; is that correct?  Is that your understanding?


MR. INNIS:  There are some large‑scale projects, and there is certainly -- whether they are single projects or various aspects of the same projects, I don't really know.  There's some projects in the order of over $1 billion.  I would suspect that there is multiple projects within that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  But the point that I'm making simply is you're seeking to add four specific projects to supply mix?


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  One of the cases that is in the binder that I put forward and that everybody else should have copies of, it's contained in the order for rehearing in Allegheny, and that's the January 19th decision.

And the reason that I am pulling this out is that at the back of that case ‑‑ and that case, the order on rehearing -- I'm sorry, this is not Allegheny.  This is American Electric Power Surface Corporation issued January 19th, 2007.


And if you go to page 16, and then the page immediately behind that, because for some reason they didn't number the pages past 16, and what I'm taking you to is actually a paragraph written by Commissioner Kelly.  


Commissioner Kelly, if you read the rest of the cases, has actually been involved in all of the incentive cases thus far, all four of them that I've been able to find.


Contained in the second paragraph is something that says, "framework for judging incentive proposals", and what I would like to do is I would like to read that particular section and put it on the record, because it will be easier for those who are listening.  And then I would like to ask a question concerning that list.


MR. INNIS:  Could you please let me know the paragraph number?


MS. CAMPBELL:  There isn't a paragraph number.  It is right under the heading, "Framing for judging incentive proposals."


MR. INNIS:  Okay.


DR. PORAY:  Which page?


MS. CAMPBELL:  It's the page after page 16.  It is not numbered.  So you go to page 16; turn it.


DR. PORAY:  Yes, we've got it.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Do you have that?  All right.  As I said, this is a statement by one of the commissioners who has been involved in approving all of the precedent cases that you have cited.  In this paragraph, Commissioner Kelly sets out six characteristics that she thinks should be identified and assessed in any transmission project application for incentives.


I am going to read that list to you, and then I am going to ask for a comment or two.  I am reading now:

"I deem it important to identify and assess the following six characteristics of any transmission project in order to make reasoned and consistent decisions on requests for incentives for the project:  

one, the public interest benefits of the project; 

two, the cost of the project in absolute terms; 

three, the cost of the project in proportion to the current transmission rate base of the applicant; 

four, the difficulty of completing it due to the number of jurisdictions traversed and whether they are jurisdictions the applicant regularly deals with; 

five, the difficulty of relying on normal rate-recovery methods due to the length of time it will take to complete; 

and, six, whether the applicant would otherwise be required to build the project even without an incentive.

The comments submitted in connection with order numbers 679 and 679-A and the experience gained in working on individual incentive cases over the past year lead me to conclude that these particular characteristics are the most relevant in deciding whether to award incentives."


And my question to you is:  Does Hydro One agree or disagree with Commissioner Kelly's list of characteristics to be considered when evaluating whether to award incentives?


MR. INNIS:  They are important characteristics, and I believe they're consistent with the criteria that Hydro One has put forward, in terms of assessing the supply mix projects.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And if I could ask you to turn the page.  Under the heading, "Threshold question: Should incentives be considered at all?", the first line is:  

"First and foremost in my analysis are the broad  regional benefits of this project to the public interest and the question of whether A&P would otherwise be required to build this project."


And if I could go down to another sentence in the second paragraph, which is four lines from the bottom of that paragraph:

"To me, it is a bedrock principle that incentives are meant to encourage behaviour that is in the public interest, but that is not otherwise required."


And at this point I would like to ask Hydro One:  Are you in agreement with those statements?


MR. INNIS:  That is what the report says, so...


MS. CAMPBELL:  No, but do you agree with it?


MR. INNIS:  In our particular case, our example that we have for Hydro One would be different, so I do not entirely agree with the facts that she has stated here.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Moving from that case, in the order on rehearing, the second, order 679-A, one of the issues that came up was the impact of what was called by one of the intervenors "duplicative incentives", and that is the granting of several incentives at once, and the fact that those duplicative incentives might in fact end up reducing risk overall in such a fashion that, perhaps, the ROE should be adjusted as a result.


My question to you doesn't have to do with the ROE.  It's the idea that the use of multiple incentives can have the effect of reducing risk significantly across the board.  In other words, two or three incentives multiplied on one another may cause a reduction of risk that is lower than what is merited in the circumstances.  


And I am just looking to find the example.


Yes.  I apologize.  It is in the final order on rehearing and it is at page 4, and that is the final order on rehearing.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you know where that is in our binders, please?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Unfortunately, I don't.  You will have to look ‑‑ it says order 679‑A issued December 22nd, 2006.   It should be the first document, I understand.


MS. NOWINA:  Page 4?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, please.  Paragraph 6.  


MS. NOWINA:  Does the witness panel have it? 


MR. INNIS:  Yes, we do. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  I am just going to read it on the record again for those who intermittently are tuning in.  

"Second, the final rule required that each applicant demonstrate a nexus between the incentive being sought and the investment being made.  Several petitioners argued that the nexus test is not sufficiently rigorous to protect consumers.  We grant rehearing in part on this issue.  The final rule stated that the nexus test is to be applied separately to each incentive, rather than to the package of incentives as a whole.  We agreed that this approach fails to protect consumers when applicant both seeks incentives that reduce the risk of the project and seeks and enhanced rate of return on equity for the increased risk.  

We will therefore grant in part rehearing and require applicants to demonstrate that the total package of incentives is tailored to address the demonstrably risks or challenges faced by the applicant in undertaking the project.  

If some of the incentives in the package reduce the risks of the project, that fact will be taken into account in any requests for an enhanced ROE."  


Can you advise whether Hydro One would agree that the Board should take into account, if it approves the incentives that you are suggesting, take the effect of those incentives into account when in turn they look at your request for a ROE of 10.5 percent?  


MR. INNIS:  It would be appropriate to take those into account, and when we put together this proposal Hydro One already did.  The supply mix treatment is separate from the ROE.  And by that I mean when the ROE was calculated by Ms. McShane, she was aware of our supply mix proposal, and she took that into consideration and she assumed that the supply mix proposal would be implemented and, therefore, she struck an ROE with that in mind.  


If the supply mix treatment is not implemented, then that would give cause to Ms. McShane to re-evaluate her ROE.  


So these are two separate initiatives right now, and there is no double counting between the value of the ROE that is submitted and the supply mix initiative that is being sought.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And staying in the final order, there are a couple of other things that the commission makes clear are required if you're going to be granted incentives.  


My understanding is that you are seeking, and we have discussed this, the recovery of 100 percent of prudently incurred costs associated with possibly abandoned transmission projects.  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  And this would be abandoned for matters that are totally outside of our control.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  In the FERC final order, first time around, the long one, after discussing a request for an incentive like that and a request for the inclusion of construction work in progress being added to rate base, on page 83, at paragraph 117, FERC indicates that there is a need for a reporting requirement.  


In other words, it imposes an annual reporting requirement.  

Specifically, paragraph 117 says:

"the final rule adopted in annual reporting requirement for utilities that receive incentive rate treatment for specific transmission projects.  The annual reporting requirement includes projections and related information that detail the level of transmission investment."  


And my question to you is:  Would Hydro One be prepared to comply with such a requirement?  


MR. INNIS:  We would be prepared to comply with that requirement, similar to how we comply with other reporting requirements.  An example would be reporting requirements associated with the leave to construct projects of which some of these supply projects meet that criteria.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And if you turn the page to page 84.  Paragraph 119.  


And just the second -- I'm sorry, I should read the first two sentences too, to set them.  

"As the commission explained in the final rule, the purpose of the reporting requirement is not to provide a quantitative measure of the consumer benefits that result from transmission infrastructure investments.  In the proceeding approving incentives and recovery of the costs of incentives in rates, the commission will determine whether proposed projects meet the requirements of section 219 and thereby provide consumer benefits and also set metrics to ensure those benefits are justified on an ongoing basis."


Does Hydro One agree that such metrics would be appropriate if the Board were to approve Hydro One's request for special treatment in the form of incentive?  


MR. INNIS:  We haven't considered what reporting metrics would be appropriate.  So I can't really comment on the nature of what might be relevant or to the extent of what would be reported.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Would you agree that there is a benefit to filing information that contains metrics, such as the sort directed by FERC?  


MR. INNIS:  Just give me a moment to read the specifics again, please.  


The metrics that are listed in this FERC report go beyond typically what we would report for normal in-service projects.  


We're asking for treatment of supply mix projects to become in-service as spent and treated as normal projects in rate base.  


The metrics that I see listed here are above and beyond what our normal practice would be.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  In exchange for being permitted to do something that has not been done in a Canadian jurisdiction yet, would you agree that it may well be necessary for you to supply information that you haven't supplied before?  


MR. INNIS:  In a general sense, yes, I think that would be appropriate.  In terms of the specific metrics, we would have to consider what would be helpful and relevant.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  In the FERC cases, the final rule order number 679 and 679-A were prompted by a specific amendment to a section of legislation in the United States and it was actually an amendment to the Federal Powers Act that directed the commission, FERC, to take specific steps to stimulate investment in the transmission infrastructure.  You agree with that?   


MR. INNIS:  I'm not familiar with that specific ruling, but that would seem reasonable.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  It's the basis for the order.  I'm just assuming that you had read this.  


MR. INNIS:  I have read that, yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So I just want to set that out, because what I wanted to do was to simply point out that, with regard to the basis for FERC order 679 and 679-A, there was an amendment to a federal piece of legislation called the Federal Powers Act, that required FERC, through rule making, to incent investment into the transmission infrastructure.  


And you will agree that is not the situation in Ontario?  


MR. INNIS:  The situation in Ontario is not exactly the same as what FERC had.  What we are using the FERC precedents for is to help us in our thinking, in terms of addressing the local circumstance in Ontario, with the large spend required on supply mix projects, which there's a risk involved.


So what we're asking for has not been driven by the legal requirement, perhaps, that FERC had, but the end result, in terms of the precedents and the incentives that we are asking for, we are drawing from the information that we have learned from them.  


The Ontario situation is unique and we are facing a large infrastructure build and higher risks involved.  And we believe that that's a similar circumstance to the US, in terms of the required large investment in transmission infrastructure.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, I put it to you the situation is quite different in the United States.  They have suffered a ‑‑ and this is indicated in the order 679 and 679‑A, that they have suffered a dearth of investment for quite a period of time and they desperately need to incent private investment into the infrastructure.  This is contained in the order.  


My point to you, sir, is that that's a very different situation than the one we have in Ontario now, isn't it?


MR. INNIS:  The US situation is unique to their circumstances and their investment, and we have our own situation here that we're trying to address.  So the circumstances, perhaps, are different, but the underlying intent is similar, in order to provide for increased investment in transmission and to compensate for the additional risk that is involved.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And you were asked, and Hydro One was asked by Great Lakes Power in an Interrogatory No. 1 -- let me just find that number for you.  That is J-4-1, and this specifically goes to Hydro One and why it is obliged to undertake investments in the transmission system.


I'm suggesting to you, sir, that the difference is quite significant.  Whereas in the US, order 679 is trying to cause private investors to put their dollars into transmission infrastructure, as is indicated in IR J‑4-1, your licence actually obligates you to build and maintain this transmission infrastructure.


So if I could take you to J‑4-1, which refers to your electricity transmission licence which was filed in this proceeding.  You don't need to turn it up, sir, but it's, for the record, Exhibit A, tab 5, schedule 1 is the actual licence.  


And the response that was given to Hydro One, when asked to describe the basis and authority on which Hydro One was obliged to undertake investments in the transmission system, the answer was that:  

"The basis and authority on which Hydro One is obliged to undertake the investments in the transmission system described as per its electricity transmission licence issued December 3rd, 2003 and amended on August 11th, 2004, specifically this is covered in the licence under section 7, obligation to provide non‑discriminatory access; section 8, obligation to connect; section 9, obligation to maintain system integrity.  

Further, these investments are to be done on the transmission system owned by the licensee as per the licence's schedule 1 description of the transmission system.  

Finally, these investments will be undertaken as per the licence requirements under section 12, expansion of transmission system."


If Hydro One is obligated to undertake these investments as a term of its licence, why are financial incentives, such as those that you are seeking from this Board, required?


MR. INNIS:  We certainly are obligated under our licence and we take that obligation seriously, and in response to the needs of these projects, we're incurring these costs.


We believe that there is significantly higher risks involved in these projects.  Typically, these are projects that we would not otherwise have undertaken.  Generation is being shut down in certain areas.  It's being constructed in areas where we don't physically have lines available.


So while we have an obligation to serve, we are also subject to decisions that are beyond our control and directing us to construct those lines.  


Also, in directing us to construct those lines, we are incurring significantly additional risk and we have no assurance that those lines will eventually be able to be put in service.  As an example I have already mentioned like the Niagara project, that is a very good example of meeting our obligation to serve, constructing a project and not being able to finish it.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, just picking up on Niagara and the statement you made, "investments that would not otherwise be undertaken," I would like to discuss Niagara with you.  


And one of the materials, in fact the only one that I am going to use for this, was circulated I believe yesterday via e‑mail.  It's an excerpt from the summary of prefiled evidence on the actual application for the Niagara reinforcement project.  


That application was filed October 29th, 2004.  This is an excerpt called the Summary of Prefiled Evidence, and it is in the proceeding for the Niagara replacement project, as I said, which was EB-2004‑0476.


It's Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, pages 1 to 5 of that actual application.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's mark it as an exhibit in this proceeding, Ms. Campbell.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, we will, and that will be L 6.6.


EXHIBIT NO. L6.6:  ACTUAL APPLICATION FOR THE NIAGARA 

REINFORCEMENT PROJECT, EB-2004‑0476.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, as I said, you just made a statement that these are investments you would not otherwise have undertaken and you have included, recently included Niagara into the supply mix.  And in response to a question that was posed by VECC ‑‑ and this is IR J‑5-92, you outlined what you said would be the criteria for inclusion into the supply mix.


If I could ask you to turn J-5‑92 up, please.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  You indicated that the criteria for projects are as follows:

"They are driven by Ontario supply mix initiatives or projects being undertaken by other companies, over which Hydro One has no control or influence.  There is some degree of uncertainty and risk with regards to the completion or in‑service dates of these supply mix initiatives or projects which are driving the transmission infrastructure projects.  They are included in the IESO's June 2006 Ontario Reliability Outlook.  They have significant expenditure levels.  They have long lead times."


Now, that answer was given on January 29th, 2007.  And at the same time, there was a specific question concerning Niagara, and that's J‑1-98.


If you could turn that up also, again, January 29th, 2007.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And if you could look down at the bottom, there is a little "i", little "v", and the question by Staff was:   

"Confirm that Hydro One, regardless whether or not the Board approves the economic justification for this project, ..."

- this project being the Niagara Reinforcement project -

"... Hydro One will not add the cost of this project to the rate base unless it is commercially in service."


And if I could ask you to turn the page, sir, page 3 of 6.  The answer to that was:

"Hydro One confirms that the Niagara reinforcement project would be included in the transmission capital rate base after appropriate approvals from the OEB and when the NRP is in service, based on Hydro One's current understanding of OEB regulations and financial practices."


And that was filed January 29th, 2007; correct?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's correct.  And then on, I believe it was, February 23rd, 2007, there was an amendment made to the supply mix-driven projects to be added to rate base.  And Niagara reinforcement appeared on page 4 of D1, tab 4, schedule 4, for the first time.  You agree, sir?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  And so if I look at some of the criteria that you say have to be met to be in supply mix, one of the first things I'm struck by is the fact that this project is almost complete.  $97 million of $100 million has already been spent.  Is that not correct, sir?



MR. INNIS:  That's close to what I believe the numbers are, yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  One of the reasons it is close to being finished is because, as we see from the summary of prefiled evidence, this project was started a long time ago.  In fact, if I could take you, sir, to page 4, lines 14 to 22.  


I'm not going to read it, but I simply point out, sir, that the environmental assessment -- 


MR. RUPERT:  Sorry, Ms. Campbell, page 4 of what?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize, sir.  Page 4 of the most recent exhibit, which is L6.6, which is the summary of the prefiled evidence from the original application -- 


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  -- for the Niagara Reinforcement project.  


I simply point out to you in there, sir, the line that is actually at line 21 indicates that the environmental assessment report was approved through an Order in Council on October 14th, 1998.  


MR. INNIS:  Give me a moment.  If I read the sentence before that, it says: 

"The entire specific routing has been the subject of a completed individual environmental assessment process which was carried out as part of the Niagara River Hydroelectric Development Environmental Assessment." 


I believe that is broader in scope than what this specific project would have...


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right, but you'll agree that that evidence is filed as part of the application for the Niagara replacement project?  


MR. INNIS:  It is in the -- 


MS. CAMPBELL:  -- prefiled evidence, in October of 2004.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, it is. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So initial steps that involve this application and that were important enough for you to include it in the summary of prefiled evidence, are steps that were taken as early as 1998.  


MR. INNIS:  That's a reference that is in that package, yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's right.  And I understand, from the materials, that the approval by this Board was given to this application, I believe June or July 2005.  


MR. INNIS:  I believe it was June 2005, yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And as we've already discussed, the great majority of the funds have already been advanced in that case, because the project is very close to completion.  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, it is, and we are stalled on completion of that and it's uncertain when that will be finished. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  I understand.  So the problem that Hydro One has with the Niagara replacement project is really that you have spent a great deal of money.  You've almost completed it.  Yet you are truly unable to bring it into service at this point.  


MR. INNIS:  We're unable to complete said construction of that project, that's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's right.  And so when I look at the criteria and I consider the discussion that we have just had, I agree, and I think you would agree with me, there have been significant expenditure levels but they have already been put out.  Those funds are already spent and invested by you.  


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And there was a long lead time, but we are almost at the end of the lead time, aren't we?  


MR. INNIS:  I would like to think so, yes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  In fact, it would be in service by now, if certain events had not happened. 


MR. INNIS:  Our plan was to have that in service by now, correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's right.  And so in fact this project was underway before there was even such a thing as the OPA, isn't that true?  The OPA came into existence in December 2004, royal assent to the bill that restructured.  


MR. INNIS:  I can't comment on when the OPA came into effect or that sort of -- you perhaps could be right, but I don't know specifically. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Would you agree with me, sir, that it certainly was in existence before anybody thought of causing the newly-formed OPA to create the Reliability Outlook Study?  


MR. INNIS:  This specific project, the Niagara project?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  


MR. INNIS:  This project was approved in June 2005, and that was as a result of the supply constraints on the system we were experiencing back then, and this is when that project was initiated, because of the need for access to other sources of generation.  


So I would say that this need was specifically identified.  If the project was approved in 2005, perhaps a number of months prior to that, the details of the project would have been scoped out.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  One of the things that I would like to discuss with you -- and I can understand the issues that obviously Hydro One is facing.  You may understand that I have some difficulty in understanding how this suddenly becomes part of the supply mix.  


What I would like to discuss with you, sir, if I could take you to the very first page of the summary of the prefiled evidence from the original application of October 29th, 2004.  


MR. INNIS:  I have that.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  And this may be as a result of the fact that I actually chose not to study engineering, particularly electrical engineering when I was in university.  But one of my questions is -- I've got four specific bullet points here, and these are four specific things that occurred in this project.  Can you explain to me why none of them can be made used and useful at this time?  


MR. INNIS:  I also did not study engineering, so from the technical point of view, I can't answer that question.  


However, just at a concepts point of view, if there is a line that stretches from point A to point B and it's not fully completed, that line requires the 100 percent of it to be finished, then we are not able to receive the functionality from that line.  Even though a small segment might not be done, the whole line cannot be connected.  So it is not fully used and useful at that point in time.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  The reason I am asking that is when I looked at the map, certain parts of this project appeared to be discrete.  Obviously they all connect together.  But I was wondering whether there was any way that Hydro One would be able to use part of something that has been done in this project and make it used and useful.  


That may not be a question you can answer, sir.  


MR. INNIS:  From a technical point of view, I'm not sure if that would be possible or not.  I would have to look at the system, what has been constructed, the system specifications, what other requirements there are in that area that could they could be used for.  So I can't comment on what has been done, to what extent there could be some alternate use for what the initial purpose would have been.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you explain to me if you're trying to put this into supply mix, sir, why incentives are needed to complete it? 


MR. INNIS:  The incentives that we're talking about would be to put in supply mix, you're correct; and what that is addressing is the risk that we see with this project.  


We are very concerned that we can't get this project in-service, and this meets the supply mix criteria that have been established.  And one of the -- it's a very good example of why we need this type of a treatment for these high-risk projects, because, indeed, we are left with this asset that we have no ability to earn a return on.  That does not send a very good message to our investment community who look at our financial results.  And if they see us making investments in large undertakings with no assurance of recovery, that would cause concern.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  One of the reasons I remain puzzled, sir, is that when I read the FERC precedents, it strikes me that what they're trying to do is stimulate investment;  that is, cause projects that with a not otherwise be undertaken to be undertaken.  


In contrast, this project has already been undertaken.  In fact it is virtually completed.  So I remain puzzled as to how the incentives would be appropriate, given the state of the Niagara replacement project.  


MR. INNIS:  The incentive goes to the risk that we see.  An incentive in the terms that -- FERC's usage means, an incentive means allowing that project to have been included in rate base and earn a return.  That's what FERC means by the incentive.  


That's not the same meaning of the word "incentive" in terms of incentive to construct a project.  So there's different usage here.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I note that it is 4:30, Madam Chair.  


Perhaps it would be an appropriate time to stop.  I may have a handful of questions, but I, quite frankly, can't tell you whether -- I think I can get rid of most of them and I think actually I don't need to go very much further but I do appreciate it is 4:30 and it has been a very long day because it has been the same panel all day so they're probably as tired as I know I am. 


MS. NOWINA:  It has been a long day for the witness panel and it is appropriate to adjourn at this point.  


So we will adjourn until 9:30 Monday morning, and Ms. Campbell you can let us know whether or not you plan to -- 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Certainly.  It may well be that I will be pleased to hand over to Mr. Buonaguro.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Thank you, panel.  Have a nice weekend.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:29 p.m.
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ERRATA:

References to "energy" on the following pages should read "Inergi": Page 31, line 27; 32:17; references to NRG on the following pages should read "Inergi": 34:2; 34:10; 34:11; 34:14

Page 147, Line 26 
"COGNO" is replaced by "Cognos"

CHANGES FILED BY COUNSEL FOR HYDRO ONE NETWORKS:

Page 51, Line 3 

"providing" is replaced by "provident"

Page 148, Line 20
"XS" is replaced by "DR"

Page 149, Line 2

"and then" is removed from the text
Volume 5, Tuesday, May 8 
ERRATA:

Page 23, Line 4 

"come" is replaced by "some"

Page 55, Line 23 
"CA" is replaced by "CEA"

CHANGES FILED BY COUNSEL FOR HYDRO ONE NETWORKS:

Page 21, Line 25 
"integration" is changed to "integrator"

Page 100, Line 17
"December 1st" is changed to "December 31st"

Note:  "Errata" correct errors on the part of the reporter.  

"Corrections" are modifications to the transcript made at all parties' request.
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